
First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

A N N U A L  R E P O R T

At the occasion of our 26th Anniversary, it gives me great pleasure to be sharing with you our new format of Annual 
Report. FMI has a diverse business portfolio covering Financial Services, Healthcare, Real Estate and Tourism. In line 
with the wider Group’s mission to “Build a Better Myanmar for its People”, our goal is to drive higher standards in each 
of the sectors we operate, creating value for our employees, our shareholders and the country as a whole. 

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
Executive Chairman



Build
a Better
Myanmar
for its People.

2018 Annual Report Theme

The inspiration behind this year’s Annual Report theme is 
“transcendence”. Surpassing the conventional trend, First 
Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd. is entering a new phase to 
redefine its brand perception and identity.

With the Company’s new mission “Build a Better Myanmar for its 
People” in mind, the Company reinvigorates this year’s Annual 
Report not just to give a fresher look but also to deliver a more 
comprehensive report including some brand new contents.
Effectively using foreground and background photography 
composition, all visuals within this report aspired to convey 
the message of transcendence through people – investors' 
confidence, customers' smiles, and employees' dedication.
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Chairman's Message

Dear Shareholders, 

The financial year ended 31 March 2018 (“FY2018”) has been 
an eventful year for FMI, and it is my privilege to update you on 
our results and the commendable achievements by our core 
businesses during this period. FY2018 clearly demonstrates 
that our conglomerate structure of focusing on four key pillars 
of business  – Financial Services, Healthcare, Real Estate and 
Tourism - has enabled us to post another year of profits despite 
the overall slowdown of the economy.  

FMI has delivered a strong result, achieving a record revenue of 
MMK 205.6 billion in FY2018, compared to last year’s revenue 
of MMK 161.3 billion. For FY2018, your Board will be proposing 
a two-part dividend of one (1) fully-paid bonus share for every 
twenty (20) ordinary shares owned, plus a cash dividend of MMK 
100 per ordinary share, which is subject to your approval at our 
upcoming Annual General Meeting.  With FMI shares trading 
on the YSX for around MMK 12,000 per ordinary share as of 31 
March 2018, the issuance of one (1) fully-paid bonus share for 
every twenty (20) ordinary shares owned is equivalent to an 
additional dividend value of approximately MMK 600 per share, 
making the total dividend payout this year of approximately 
MMK 700 per share.

Strong and Resilient 

Myanmar continues to be one of the fastest growing economies 
in the world. According to the World Bank, the country’s growth 
outlook remains stable with GDP growth rate for 2017/2018 to 
remain the same as 2016/2017 at 6.4%, while growing to 6.7% 
in 2018/2019 and 7.0% in 2019/2020. This growth is mainly 
driven by the services, industry and agriculture sectors.1

The journey has not been easy for the country. The ongoing 
and incomplete peace process with multiple ethnic armed 
organisations and the crisis in Rakhine State have resulted in 
negative sentiment towards investments in Myanmar.

However, many, including myself, believe that Myanmar will 
continue to push ahead to improve its investment climate, 
banking sector and strengthen its implementation capacity on 
major reform programmes.

Our Performance

Our Financial Services sector continues to deliver remarkable 
performance while the Healthcare and Real Estate sectors 
made smaller contributions to the FMI Group in this FY2018. 

Yoma Bank Limited (“Yoma Bank”) turned in a strong 
performance with a 27% increase in total revenue to MMK 
186.5 billion in FY2018 as compared to the previous financial 
year. Yoma Bank continues to be a major contributor to FMI’s 
revenues contributing 90.7% of total revenue. Yoma Bank’s 
cash flow from operations is also strong as the increase in 
deposits from customers correlated with the increase of our 
loan portfolio, which was within our set targets.

At Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospitals (“PHSH”), revenue improved by 
28.2% to MMK 18.8 billion in FY2018. The significant increase in 
the number of patients received reflects PHSH’s growing local 
brand recognition and its ability to attract local patients.

PHSH also opened its first hospital under the PHSH brand 
outside of Yangon during FY2018. PHSH’s Mandalay Hospital 
offers outpatient services to the local population and 
foreigners, including ultrasound and electrocardiogram scans, 
vaccination programmes, maternity care and 24/7 emergency 
services. PHSH is also expanding its hospital network beyond 
its hub in Yangon and Mandalay with new facilities in Taunggyi, 
Pyay and Mawlamyaing. This ‘Hub and Spoke’ model will help 
us develop centres of medical excellence throughout the 
country, and support the development of specialist centres 
through referrals. I am glad to state that we are on track to 
achieve our strategic plan to establish ten hospital facilities in 
the coming years.

Our Real Estate team is building a revenue stream model 
that balances the sales of development properties with rental 
income of its investment properties. Business has held up well 
despite challenges in the sector. The Yoma Group has recently 
launched Yoma Land, the new umbrella brand under which its 
Real Estate businesses - StarCity, Yoma Central and Pun Hlaing 
Estate  – will sit. We believe that the consolidation of the projects 
under one brand will serve to help our customers identify 
with us more closely as a dedicated real estate developer and 
provide more clarity of our property portfolio offerings. 

1 http://www.worldbank.org/en/country/myanmar/overview
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invitation-only basis. It is part of our landmark Yoma Central 
project in the prime downtown area and we are confident 
that this project will lead to the transformation of downtown 
Yangon when completed in the financial year ending 31 March 
2021 (“FY2021”).

Another remarkable achievement for FMI is the award of an 
exclusive 20-year contract from the Yangon City Development 
Committee (“YCDC”) for the design, fabrication, installation, 
maintenance and operation of street furniture items and 
advertisements in Yangon. The project is our collaboration 
with the world’s largest advertising company through JCDecaux 
Asia (S) Pte Ltd (“JCDecaux”) via a joint venture company, 
FMIDecaux Company Limited (“FMIDecaux”), to undertake this 
operation. This is a key milestone for FMI as it gives us the 
opportunity to play a part in enhancing and improving people’s 
lives in Yangon, making the city more beautiful and improving 
passengers’ commutes. We have started the construction of 
the first batch of 350 bus shelters and will ultimately deliver 
500 bus shelters throughout the city. With JCDecaux’s industry 
expertise, FMI's local knowledge as well as our shared values of 
respect, transparency, commitment and vision of a great future 
for Yangon, I am confident we will achieve and deliver quality 
street furniture for YCDC and the citizens of Yangon.

Commitment to Strong Corporate Governance 

We have once again been named as Myanmar’s most 
transparent company by the Myanmar Centre for Responsible 
Business (“MCRB”) pursuant to the Pwint Thit Sa 2018 report. 
This is the second time that FMI has been awarded the top 
ranking in the annual Pwint Thit Sa report on Transparency in 
Myanmar Enterprises (“TiME”). SPA has also been ranked third 
in this year’s Pwint Thit Sa report on TiME. We see it as our 
responsibility to raise the standards of corporate governance 
in Myanmar and we are honoured to be recognised for our 
efforts.

FMI continues to hold steadfast to our commitment to 
corporate integrity, transparency and accountability which are 
core principles for FMI; all of which have brought us a long way 
to where we are today and will continue to drive our growth 
for years to come. This is a promise we have to our investors, 
customers, employees and shareholders. In line with this, we 
have now added a brand new section on Sustainability to our 
Annual Report this year. 

Significant Developments this Year

Our focus continues to be on our existing core businesses, 
driving them to greater efficiencies and growth. A key sector 
which we will also be focusing on is the tourism sector.

The 5th of January 2018 shall always be a memorable day for 
us. The Yoma Group successfully spun off its tourism assets 
into a dedicated tourism company, Memories Group, which 
gained a listing on the Catalist Board of the SGX. This is the first 
Myanmar focused tourism company to list on any international 
bourse and paves the way for Memories Group to grow into 
a leader in the tourism industry in Myanmar. As at 31 March 
2018, FMI owns 11.9% of Memories Group. 

We believe in the vast potential growth of Myanmar’s tourism 
market and are well positioned to benefit from it. Memories 
Group’s unique integrated tourism platform strategy 
interconnects three business segments: Hotels, Experiences, 
and Services under one umbrella allowing to showcase its 
assets at a glance, provide ample cross-selling opportunities, 
attain operational synergies as well as economies of scale. 

In March and May 2018, Memories Group acquired two quality 
assets. The first is Burma Boating, a well-known luxury yachting 
company that offers premium cruise experiences in the Mergui 
Archipelago. The second asset which we acquired is Kayah 
Resort located in Loikaw in Kayah State. There are now a total 
of eight key assets under Memories Group. 

Also in March 2018, FMI sold a 34% stake in Digital Money 
Myanmar Company Limited (“Wave Money”) for USD19.4 
million, allowing FMI to record a gain in our books. The 
transaction provided FMI with a fresh cash flow which will 
be ploughed into Yoma Bank to augment its capital. Post-
transaction, FMI, together with Yoma Bank, owns 15% of Wave 
Money. Looking forward, Wave Money continues to be a very 
promising investment reaching a total of 25,000 Wave shops 
across Myanmar and facilitating over 2.5 million transactions 
a month. We are proud that Wave Money has been making 
a significant difference in development of mobile payment 
platform in Myanmar which has enabled more customers 
throughout the country to securely store and transfer money 
using just their mobile phones.

Meeyahta Development Limited (“MDL”) launched the sales of 
The Peninsula Residences Yangon in March 2018, an upmarket 
residential development in downtown Yangon consisting of 
96 luxury condominium units to be built alongside the iconic 
Peninsula Yangon Hotel. These units are sold on an exclusive 
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Going Forward 

The “why” of the FMI Group is to Build a Better Myanmar for its 
People. That is our mission statement to guide us to our next 
stage of growth.
 
Our goal is to be a diversified blue-chip conglomerate in 
Myanmar, offering the highest standards of product and service 
quality, corporate governance and personnel development. 
For international parties seeking to invest in Myanmar, we aim 
to be the partner of choice and together, build businesses that 
place us in a leading position in the sectors we focus on.
 
Acknowledgements

In closing, I would like to thank the Board once again for their 
leadership and direction and to our partners and stakeholders 
for their strong support. I would also like to extend our gratitude 
to all our employees for their contributions to our success in 
FY2018. Our employees have been quick to recognise their 
customers’ changing needs and have responded efficiently 
and effectively, and continue to focus on the human touch that 
sets FMI apart. As the pace of change accelerates, the ability to 
adapt will give us a competitive edge.

Last but not least, I thank you, our shareholders, for your 
continuous support.  All of us take great pride in the company 
we have built over the past two and a half decades and we 
consider it a privilege to serve you and truly believe the best 
is yet to come. 

Yours Sincerely, 

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
Executive Chairman
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The  Campus - the new location of FMI Head Office.
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A native of Yangon, Myanmar, U Theim Wai is the Executive 
Chairman of FMI. In 1983, he founded Serge Pun & Associates 
Limited in Hong Kong SAR and eventually returned to the 
country of his birth to establish SPA in 1991.

SPA’s flagship FMI, one of the first public companies in 
Myanmar, was established in 1992. In 2006, U Theim Wai led 
Yoma Strategic to a successful listing on the Mainboard of the 
SGX. FMI became the first company to be listed on the new YSX 
in March 2016. Memories Group, the Yoma Group’s tourism 
business was successfully listed on the Catalist Board of the 
SGX in January 2018.

U Theim Wai is currently a member of the World Economic 
Forum, ASEAN Regional Group and ASEAN Business Council, a 
standing member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative 
Conference of Dalian, and a member of the Asia Business 
Council.  Additionally, he served as a Honorary Business 
Representative of the International Enterprise Singapore for 
Myanmar from 2004 to 2006.

FY2018
Board of Directors

U Theim Wai @
Serge Pun Executive Chairman

Present Directorships in
listed companies
(as at 28 June 2017)

•	 First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.
•	 Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings 

Public Limited
•	 Yoma Strategic Holdings Ltd. 

(Singapore)
•	 Memories Group Limited 

(Singapore)

Date of Appointment 12 September 2004

Last Re-elected 31 July 2016
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U Tun Tun joined the FMI Group in 1998. He has been an 
Executive Director of FMI since 2009 and currently also serves 
as FMI’s Chief Financial Officer. Over the years, he has held 
various positions at both operational and corporate levels, and 
has overseen many of the FMI Group’s companies and joint 
ventures. He is also an Associate Member of the Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries & Administrators (UK).  

U Tun Tun Executive Director & Chief Financial Officer

Present Directorships in listed companies
(as at 28 June 2017)

•	 First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.
•	 Memories Group Limited (Singapore)

Date of Appointment 17 November 2009

Last Re-elected 30 July 2017

U Linn Myaing is an Executive Director of FMI and currently 
leads the Group Government Relations Department. He was 
appointed as SPA’s Advisor to the Board in 2006. U Linn Myaing 
is a retired Director General from the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. 
He also served as Myanmar’s Ambassador to several Western 
countries including France and the United States. He was also 
an Ambassador and the Head of the Myanmar Mission to the 
European Union and Permanent Delegate to the UNESCO.

U Linn Myaing Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies
(as at 28 June 2017)

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Date of Appointment 2 July 2012

Last Re-elected 26 July 2015

U Myat Thin Aung is a Non-Executive Vice-Chairman of FMI 
and is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. He 
is the Chairman of AA group of companies and also serves 
as the Patron of Yamethin and Daik-U Associations. U Myat 
Thin Aung is a member of the Central Executive Committee 
of Union of Myanmar Federation of Chamber of Commerce & 
Industry (UMFCCI), and a Patron of Hlaing Thayar Industrial City 
Management Committee. He is also the Vice Chairman of the 
Myanmar-China Friendship Association (Central). 

U Myat Thin Aung Non-Executive Vice-Chairman

Present Directorships in listed companies
(as at 28 June 2017)

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Date of Appointment 31 July 1992

Last Re-elected 30 July 2017



14

Fi
rs

t M
ya

nm
ar

 In
ve

st
m

en
t C

o.
, L

td
.  

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

7-
20

18

Professor Dr. Yi Yi Myint is a Non-Executive Director of FMI 
since 2009 and is a member of the Audit and Remuneration 
Committees. She is a retired professor of economics with a 
long tenure at the Yangon Institute of Economics. Dr. Yi Yi Myint 
was awarded the Good Public Service Medal in 1990 and was a 
delegate to the National Convention. In 2015, she was awarded 
a D.Litt (Honoris Causa) from Yangon Institute of Economics. 

U Than Aung is a Non-Executive Director of FMI since 1992 
as well as a member of the Nominating Committee. He is 
currently the Managing Director of Yar-Pye Co., Ltd. and other 
family-owned companies. He is also the Vice Chairman of the 
Pathein Association and the Vice Chairman of the Ayeyawady 
United Football Club. 

U Than Aung Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies
(as at 28 June 2017)

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Date of Appointment 31 July 1992

Last Re-elected 30 July 2017

Professor Dr. Yi Yi Myint Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies
(as at 28 June 2017)

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Date of Appointment 17 November 2009

Last Re-elected 26 July 2015

Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet is a Non-Executive Director of FMI 
since December 2013, and is the Chairman of the Nominating 
Committee. He is an Advisor to the UMFCCI, and a member of 
the Peace Commission and Myanmar Investment Commission. 
Dr. Aung Tun Thet is a Professor Emeritus at Yangon University 
Economics and a visiting Professor at Payap University, 
Chiangmai, Thailand. He graduated with B.Com.(YGN), Post-
Graduate Diploma in Management Studies (Brighton, UK), 
M.Sc. (Warwick, UK), Ph.D. (Manchester, UK), Post-Doctoral 
Fellow (Marburg, Germany). 

Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies
(as at 28 June 2017) •	 First Myanmar Investment  Co., Ltd.

•	 Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Limited 

Date of Appointment 3 December 2013

Last Re-elected 26 July 2015
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U Kyi Aye is a Non-Executive Director of FMI since 2015. He is 
the first Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the 
Remuneration Committee. He joined Yoma Bank in 2000 and is 
now Director of Yoma Bank. He was also a Director of SGX-listed 
Yoma Strategic from 2006 to 2015. U Kyi Aye is a retired Governor 
of the Central Bank of Myanmar (“CBM”) from 1992 to 1998. He 
began his banking career in 1960 and joined the CBM in 1965. 
He holds B.Com and B.L degrees from Yangon University and 
a Diploma in World Banking and Finance from the Economic 
Institute in Boulder, Colorado, USA. 

U Nyunt Tin is a Non-Executive Director of FMI and a member of 
the Audit Committee. He was a former Member of Parliament 
and served as the Chairman of the International Relations 
Committee of the Amyotha Hluttaw from 2011 to 2016. He was 
a member of the Myanmar Investment Commission where he 
was actively involved in evaluating many of Myanmar’s largest 
investment projects. Prior to serving in Parliament, U Nyunt 
Tin was a distinguished diplomat. He served as the Myanmar 
Consul General to Hong Kong, Ambassador of Myanmar to 
Indonesia, France and Canada. 

U Kyi Aye Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies
(as at 28 June 2017)

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Date of Appointment 5 November 2015

Last Re-elected 31 July 2016

U Nyunt Tin Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies
(as at 28 June 2017)

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Date of Appointment 29 July 2016

Last Re-elected Not Applicable 

Professor Dr. Kyaw Yin Hlaing is a Non-Executive Director of 
FMI and a member of the Nominating Committee. He is also 
a director at the Center for Diversity and National Harmony. 
He earned M.A. and Ph.D. degrees from Cornell University, also 
had taught at City University of Hong Kong and the National 
University of Singapore. He was a former Advisor to President 
U Thein Sein, a former member of the National Economic and 
Social Council, and a former director of the Myanmar Peace 
Center. 

Professor Dr. Kyaw Yin Hlaing Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies
(as at 28 June 2017)

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Date of Appointment 29 July 2016

Last Re-elected Not Applicable 
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FMI KEY MANAGEMENTADVISORS
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FINANCIAL SERVICES
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HEALTHCARE
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REAL ESTATE
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MEMORIES GROUP
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PORTFOILIO INVESTMENTS 



25

Fi
rs

t M
ya

nm
ar

 In
ve

st
m

en
t C

o.
, L

td
.  

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

7-
20

18

*	 Gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital
1   	 Net debt is calculated as borrowings (excluding loans from non-controlling interests) plus trade and other payables less cash and cash 

equivalents
2   Total capital is calculated as net assets attributable to equity holders of the company plus net debt

FY 2018 Group Financial Highlights

FY 2018 FY 2017 % Change

For the financial year (MMK ‘000)

Revenue 205,619,926 161,349,879 27.4%

Gross Profit 72,765,909 52,503,659 38.6%

Net Profit 24,777,453 14,900,526 66.3%

Net Profit attributable to Equity Holders 18,617,449 12,154,203 53.2%

Net Cash and Cash Equivalents 286,955,946 203,244,224 41.2%

Earnings per share (MMK per share) 746 518 44.0%

As at 31 March 2018 (MMK ‘000)

Non-Controlling Interests 88,221,605 81,318,953 8.5%

Net Debt1 84,541,033 56,464,596 49.7%

Total Capital2 271,105,976 236,646,835 14.6%

MMK 205.6 bn
Record Revenue

Record revenue primarily driven
by Financial Services business

31.2%*
Financial Gearing Ratio

Remains below the FMI Group’s 40%
financial gearing target

MMK 18.6 bn
Net Profit attributable to Equity Holders

Lifted by strong gross profit and share
of profit from associates

35.4%
Gross Profit Margin

Improved gross profit margin in
Financial Services 
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Operational & Financial Review
FMI Group Overview

The FMI Group’s FY2018 financial results recorded a healthy 
revenue growth of 27.4% to MMK 205.6 billion from MMK 
161.3 billion in FY2017. This growth was mainly driven by a 
27.5% increase in Financial Services business revenue from 
MMK 146.4 billion in FY2017 to MMK 186.6 billion in FY2018, 
indicating the Financial Services business’ continued position 
as the major revenue generator for FMI Group. 

Gross profit margin rose from 32.5% in FY2017 to 35.4% in 
FY2018 mainly due to Yoma Bank having an improved gross 
margin contributed by relatively lesser interest expenses 
compared to revenue growth, while PHSH maintained its 
margin constant. 

Total FMI Group expenses increased from MMK 47.7 billion 
in FY2017 to MMK 69.9 billion in FY2018, mainly due to higher 
costs incurred for employee compensation amongst other cost 
items. Higher employee compensation is the result of the FMI 
Group’s continuous strategy to hire qualified individuals to 
accommodate its expanding business.

The FMI Group also saw a significant increase in its share of 
profit from associates and joint ventures which grew by 53.3% 
from MMK 7.6 billion in FY2017 to MMK 11.7 billion in FY2018. 
This growth was largely driven by the one-time profit gained 
from sales of Chindwin Investments Limited and Shwe Lay Ta 
Gun Travels & Tours Company Limited to Memories Group. As 
a result, the FMI Group accounted net profit growth of 66.3% 
in FY2018.

The FMI Group’s total current assets grew by 26.9% in FY2018. 
The main driver for this growth was contributed by Yoma Bank’s 
loan book growth, which highlights Yoma Bank’s extensive 
role as a financier in Myanmar. On the liability side, the total 
current liabilities for the FMI Group grew moderately at 28.7% 
as a result of a growth in deposits at Yoma Bank. FMI Group’s 
equity grew at a modest rate of 8.6%, which is attributable to 
increased retained earnings for Yoma Bank and the Company 
during the year.

Revenue Breakdown by Sectors

Key Financial Highlights

Financial Services

Healthcare Services

Others (airline, rental and dividend revenue)
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FINANCIAL SERVICES

Yoma Bank continues to be the major revenue generator 
for the FMI Group with a focus on growing its SME loan 
portfolio by executing funding agreements with local and 
international financiers.  

Yoma Bank, Net Interest Revenue

REAL ESTATE

On the Real Estate sector, due to higher market interest for 
rental properties and smaller units, some units in Galaxy 
Towers have been allocated for long-term rental, while others 
have been redesigned to cater to the demand for smaller 
units. This is in alignment with the Yoma Group’s strategy 
of balancing its Real Estate revenue between development 
properties and rental income from investment properties. In 
addition, the launch for the sales of The Peninsula Residences 
Yangon has attracted healthy interest from both domestic 
and foreign investors, which the FMI Group believes will 
contribute to long term returns for its shareholders.

PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS

The FMI Group’s portfolio investments in the Tourism sector 
have progressed well with the listing of Memories Group. With 
recent acquisitions made, the FMI Group is in the strategic 
direction to capitalise on the Myanmar tourism industry.

Existing tourism assets in Memories Group

•	 Balloons Over Bagan 

•	 Balloons Over Inle

•	 Burma Boating

•	 Memories Travel (also known as Asia Holiday Travel & Tours)

•	 Keinnara Hpa-An Hotel (also known as Hpa-An Lodge)

•	 Awei Metta Hotel (also known as Pun Hlaing Lodge)

•	 Keinnara Loikaw Hotel (also known as Kayah Resort)

HEALTHCARE

In the Healthcare space, PHSH’s revenue grew mainly due 
to an increase in patient volumes, as the hospital continues 
to expand its network in support of the development of 
PHSH’s ‘Hub and Spoke’ service delivery model.  

Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospitals, Total Revenue
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FINANCIAL SERVICES

	 Yoma Bank
	
	 Yoma Bank Limited	 51.0%

	 Wave Money	

	 Digital Money Myanmar Limited*	 15.0%

* Including 5% owned by Yoma Bank
(as a subsidiary of FMI)

HEALTHCARE
	
	 Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospitals
	
	 Yoma Siloam Hospital
	 Pun Hlaing Limited	 60.0%
	
	 Pun Hlaing International 
	 Hospital Limited 	 60.0%

Investments Overview
As at 31 March 2018
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PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS

	 FMIDecaux
	
	 FMIDecaux Company Limited	 40.0%

	 FMI Air	
	 FMI Air Limited	 10.0%

	 Myanmar Agri-Tech	
	 Myanmar Agri-Tech Limited	 30.0%

	 Myanmar Thilawa SEZ	
	 Myanmar Thilawa SEZ
	 Holdings Public Limited 	 1.7%

	 Parkson Myanmar 
	
	 Parkson Myanmar Investment
	 Company Pte. Limited.	 10.0%

TOURISM

	 Memories Group
	
	 Memories Group Limited	 11.9%

REAL ESTATE

	 StarCity
	
	 Thanlyin Estate Development Limited	 30.0%

	 The Peninsula Yangon	
	 Peninsula Yangon Holdings Pte. Limited 	 6.0%

	 Yoma Central
	
	 Meeyahta Development Limited	 12.0%*

	 Meeyahta International Hotel Limited 	 20.0%

	 Pun Hlaing Links
	
	 Pun Hlaing Links Services
	 Company Limited	 30.0%

	 F.M.I Garden Development
	
	 F.M.I Garden Development Limited	 47.5%

	 FMI Riverside	
	 FMI Riverside Development Limited 	 47.5%

Percentage is rounded to the nearest 1 decimal place.

*This is the ultimate interest upon satisfaction of certain 
conditions.



Total Deposits

MMK 1,809 bn
and

Total Loans
MMK  1,367 bn

as of FY2018

65.4%
of our credit

goes to SME Loans in
FY2018, more than

half of our total credit 
portfolio

Total Assets
grew from

MMK 1,592 bn
in FY2017 to

MMK 2,011 bn
 in FY2018

MMK 35.5 bn
out of the total

MMK 67.2 bn
approved has been

funded as part of the 
agreements with
6 different MFIs 



FINANCIAL SERVICES
YOMA BANK: CELEBRATING 25 YEARS OF RESPONSIBLE 
BANKING IN MYANMAR.

Myanmar is a country with huge growth potential for the banking 
sector. With over two decades of banking experience, Yoma Bank is 
well-positioned to leverage its network and expertise to provide for the 
growing banking needs of Myanmar’s small and medium enterprises 
(“SMEs”). It also adopts technology innovation to provide digital banking 
services to its customers. 
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Yoma Bank is one of Myanmar’s largest private banks employing 
more than 3,000 people. This year Yoma Bank is celebrating 25 
years of responsible banking in Myanmar.  

In 1993, soon after the Myanmar government allowed the 
private sector to go into the banking sector, U Theim Wai 
founded Yoma Bank and opened the doors of its first branch 
at Aung San Stadium. Since then, Yoma Bank has built up its 
technical capacities and worked towards providing modern 
financial services to its customers. In 2000, Yoma Bank’s IT team 
designed and implemented a new core banking system, and by 
2001, Yoma Bank completed the countrywide computerisation.  

By 2003, Yoma Bank was the second largest bank in Myanmar 
with 41 branches in 24 cities. At this point, a banking crisis hit 
the entire sector and all banks in Myanmar suffered massive 
losses. Yoma Bank was able to continue operating but with 
wide-ranging restrictions such as the inability to process 
deposits or loans, Yoma Bank shifted its focus to domestic 
remittances as satellite communications were installed in every 
branch, becoming the only local bank with such well-developed 
infrastructure. Yoma Bank was able to offer an unmatched level 
of reliability and efficiency for transferring money domestically 
and as a result, was able to win 85% of the market share for 
remittances within three months.

In 2012, Yoma Bank’s full banking license was returned, 
allowing Yoma Bank’s operations to expand further. Through 
Yoma Bank’s technical innovation, ‘SMART’ banking services 
were launched in August 2017 to enable online and mobile 
banking, and this practical banking solution won over 72,000 
new customers in the following six months. A new Core Banking 
System, the FBE system, was rolled out and running in every 
branch by January 2018.

Apart from a history of innovation, Yoma Bank has also 
established a reputation for adhering to higher ethical 
standards and investing in the future of the Myanmar economy 
as a whole. In September 2014, IFC chose Yoma Bank for their 
first direct investment in Myanmar- a package that included a 
convertible loan of USD 5 million and advisory help to improve 
Yoma Bank’s risk management and corporate governance. The 
IFC and Yoma Bank aim to provide an additional 1,000 loans 
worth USD 370 million to SMEs by 2019, to reach businesses 
that significantly contribute to the local economy and build up 
local communities. 

In 2016, Yoma Bank, together with Telenor Southeast Asia 
Investment Pte Limited, Telenor Go Pte Limited & Telenor 
Global Services Singapore Pte Limited, founded Wave Money, 
Myanmar’s first mobile financial service and now the largest 
mobile money platform in the country. 

A policy change in Myanmar allowed Myanmar banks to start 
lending to microfinance institutions (“MFIs”). This enabled 
Yoma Bank to provide better support to small entrepreneurs 
to build and grow their businesses. This year agreements were 
signed with six MFIs totaling an approved value of MMK 67.2 

Yoma Bank strives to become the pioneer of innovations in the banking services segment.
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billion, for which total MMK 35.5 billion in funding has already 
been made, and more are in the pipeline. Proximity Finance 
formed a back-to-back funding agreement with Yoma Bank 
in September 2017, enabling them to reach a further 28,000 
new farmer households across Myanmar. Since then, further 
deals have enabled Yoma Bank to reach over 50,000 additional 
families. These initiatives have helped previously non-banking 
communities gain access to formal financial institutions and 
obtain small loans to help them run their businesses and 
navigate life’s hurdles. 

Yoma Bank prides itself on being a rewarding place to work; 
Yoma Bank won a total of seven awards at the Myanmar 
Employer Awards of 2017, including the “Overall Best of the 
Best Local Myanmar Employer Of The Year”. These awards 
were across all departments from marketing and training to 
human resource, and reflect the co-operative atmosphere and 
team spirit of Yoma Bank. Communication is very important to 
sustain this community and in 2015, Yoma Bank was selected as 
the first company in Asia to beta test Workplace by Facebook. 
Every Yoma Bank is now connected on Workplace and this has 
transformed internal communication, making it more efficient, 
intuitive and transparent.    

As one of the largest and most trusted banks in Myanmar, 
international organisations put their faith in Yoma Bank because 
of its reputation for integrity and good business practices. 
Myanmar is seen as a country with high growth potential for 
banking, and Yoma Bank is standing at the forefront when 
it comes to the areas that have been highlighted as most 

Yoma Bank employees celebrate their achievement in Myanmar Employer Awards on 11 December 2017.

important: small loans to SMEs and customer focused digital 
banking. Yoma Bank believes that through reaching small-scale 
entrepreneurs, and through working with them, it can not only 
help communities build Myanmar’s economy, but also continue 
to grow Yoma Bank.   
 

Wave Money is the first and leading mobile financial services 
company in Myanmar, providing a simple and fast way of 
sending and receiving money either over the counter at a 
Wave Money shop or via an easy to use mobile app. Through 
Wave Money, thousands of people a day are sending money to 
support their families and facilitate business operations, giving 
millions of people access to formal financial services.

Wave Money is seeing phenomenal growth in transactions 
as more people appreciate the simplicity and convenience of 
Wave Money. From the agent network of over 25,000 Wave 
Money shops across Myanmar and the mobile app, Wave 
Money facilitates over 2.5 million transactions a month. 
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Compared to
FY2017, the Gross 

Operating Revenue in 
FY2018 grew by 28% to 

MMK 18.8 bn

First and
only hospital

in Myanmar to achieve 
JCIA

The corresponding
volume growth

across all areas was
18% 

Opening of the
Mandalay Hospital 

in FY2018



HEALTHCARE
STRIVING TO PROVIDE INTERNATIONAL QUALITY 
HEALTHCARE IN MYANMAR. 

The vision of PHSH is to drive social transformation by creating 
accessible and affordable healthcare services for all socioeconomic 
segments in Myanmar. We are committed to provide state of the art 
facilities, best of class evidence based clinical care and a trusted patient 
experience. 
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Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospitals (PHSH)

On 1 July 2017, our flagship hospital, PHSH at Pun Hlaing Estate, 
became the first and only hospital in Myanmar to attain the 
globally recognised JCIA. JCIA is viewed as the gold standard 
of safety and quality in the global healthcare community. 
According to Joint Commission International, only around 
640 hospitals outside the United States have achieved this 
milestone. 
  
PHSH’s national network agenda has taken root with the 
commissioning of our hospital on 73rd Street, Mandalay - in the 
heart of the city’s business district. This 75-bed hospital offers 
24/7 emergency services and ‘hospital on wheels’ ambulance 
service, as well as a full range of outpatient and inpatient 
services, a Hemodialysis Centre and a one-stop Medical 
Checkup Centre staffed by full-time specialists across major 
disciplines. It also offers state-of-the-art medical equipment 
including the first closed 1.5 Tesla MRI in Mandalay, 128 Slice 
CT, Digital X-ray, Mammogram and Ultrasound. The facility has 
3 fully equipped operating theatres offering a Hepa-Filtered 
Sterile Tertiary Care Surgery environment. 

In line with PHSH’s plan to expand its reach through the ‘Hub 
and Spoke’ service delivery model, it has established the Tele-
Radiology platform which enables the Radiologists located in 
Yangon to read images from Mandalay in real time.

Last year, PHSH made significant progress in recruiting full time 
highly qualified Myanmar doctors, both local and repatriates. 
These doctors are primarily specialists who are trained 
overseas and bring a wealth of experience. Currently, there 
are over 60 full-time specialists working exclusively with PHSH, 
which allows PHSH to provide international standards of care 
consistently across all service disciplines and more importantly 
facilitates a pricing mechanism that helps create accessible and 
affordable service model it strives to deliver. 

From an operational perspective, PHSH has once again 
seen improvements in FY2018 compared to FY2017. Gross 
operating revenue increased by 28% to MMK 18.8 billion.  PHSH 
saw increased revenue across all of its key segments, with 
outpatient revenue growing 27%, inpatient revenue growing 
18%, emergency revenue growing 33% and medical check-up 
revenue growing by 28%. This revenue growth is primarily due 
to an increase in patient volume resulting from our ongoing 
commitment to quality patient care, state-of-the-art facilities 
and equipment, patient centred service, and relationship with 
the local communities. 

PHSH aims to provide a better quality of life for you and your family. 
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PHSH is honoured to be the first hospital in Myanmar to be recognised by the JCIA.

PHSH’s doctors and medical experts puts your well being as their 
priority.

This year, PHSH has also been working on Myanmar’s first 
electronic medical record and enterprise resource planning 
system (“EMR-ERP system”). This automated paperless global 
best practice technology platform is set up to allow PHSH to 
achieve Healthcare Information and Management Systems 
Society (USA) Level 6 accreditation “Global Gold Standard for 
Healthcare Delivery Systems” within the next 3 years. The 
platform integrates PHSH’s Clinical and Non-Clinical operations 
real-time with a new financial management system. The key 
feature of the platform is a fully computerised and standardised 
clinical recording and order system which drives PHSH's  
operations and resource consumption across the network. 

The EMR-ERP system will enable PHSH to generate significant 
value through minimising clinical errors, reducing delays 
in getting treatment to the right patient at the right time for 
the right price, eliminating revenue and expense leakages 
from manual processing and human errors, optimising 
material costs and service efforts, and achieving scale with a 
cost-effective “Hub & Spoke” service delivery system across 
its network. More importantly, it offers the ability to track 
clinical and financial information to generate significant value 
for patients, by enabling a service delivery model based on 
predictive and personalised medicine. Consequently, this 
initiative is not only expected to provide a significantly better 
service experience and medical outcome for the patients, but 
to also be an efficient and cost-effective resourcing model that 
will be way ahead of the competition. The platform went live at 
PHSH (Pun Hlaing Estate) in March 2018. The EMR-ERP system 
will be implemented at our hospital in Mandalay by the 3rd 
quarter of 2018.

Moving forward, the FMI Group will continue to work on 
expanding its network of hospitals under the “Pun Hlaing Siloam 
Hospitals” brand to 10 hospitals within the next decade. PHSH 
is also reaching out to both the public and private sectors to 
share knowledge of the JCIA process to improve the healthcare 
standards of the country as a whole to international standards. 
As the network expands, PHSH’s priority is to continually 
drive social transformation, create accessible and affordable 
healthcare services, and improve efficiency and productivity. 
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Largest real estate 
development

in Myanmar to date,
Yoma Central has a 
development value

of an estimated
USD 700 m

The Peninsula
Residences Yangon

has launched an initial
30 residences

for sales
in March 2018

Development of
2nd phase of 

 Galaxy Towers and
30%

has been sold as
of March 2018

Completion of
first phase of both 

campuses of Dulwich 
College Yangon in 

September 2017



REAL ESTATE
BUILDING SAFE AND VIBRANT COMMUNITIES IN YANGON

The Yoma Group’s three large-scale developments, comprising two 
residential projects and a mixed-use development, help to shape 
and transform Yangon’s cityscape through its emphasis on design, 
innovation and high building standards. 
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Building safe and vibrant communities

The Company and Yoma Strategic had launched Yoma Land, the 
new umbrella brand under which the Yoma Group’s Real Estate 
businesses will sit.  The Yoma Group’s Real Estate businesses 
unified under the Yoma Land brand include StarCity, Yoma 
Central and Pun Hlaing Estate. The Yoma Group’s corporate 
vision for Yoma Land, is “Building Better Communities for the 
Future of Myanmar”.  This statement sets Yoma Land’s course 
for the coming years where it will venture into mass-market 
product offerings with the intention of catering to a much 
larger proportion of Myanmar’s population.

StarCity

FMI has a 30% stake in Thanlyin Estate Development Limited 
(“TED”), the developer of StarCity, a 135-acre residential 
development in Thanlyin Township and the only large-scale 
residential development near the Thilawa Special Economic 
Zone. StarCity is being developed in phases and is expected 
to feature some 10,000 homes and 1.7 million square feet 

of commercial space upon completion. Residents can enjoy 
facilities such as a gymnasium, a swimming pool, a golf course 
and other sports facilities. StarCity also won “Best Landscape 
Architecture Design” (2015) at the Property Guru Myanmar 
Property Awards. 

The Yoma Group had sold more than 2,000 apartments in 
StarCity’s Zones A and B as at 31 March 2018. Galaxy Towers, 
which is in the third phase of development, has six residential 
towers with 1,038 apartments available for sale.

Yoma Central and the Peninsula Yangon

Yoma Central is an integrated real estate development in 
downtown Yangon with a total gross floor area of approximately 
2.44 million square feet. Designed by prominent architect, Cecil 
Balmond OBE, it will feature The Peninsula Residences Yangon, 
two Grade A office towers, a business hotel and serviced 
apartments tower, all of which are connected seamlessly by 
a retail podium. The site will also be anchored by the former 
headquarters of the Burma Railway Company which will be 
restored into The Peninsula Yangon, a luxury hotel that will 
bring a new level of distinction to the Myanmar hospitality 
scene.

Yoma Central and The Peninsula Yangon are expected to be completed in FY2021.
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Pun Hlaing Estate

Established in 2000, Pun Hlaing Estate is a 652-acre residential 
development located in Hlaing Thayar Township, by the Hlaing 
and Pan Hlaing rivers. The estate features a range of high-end 
homes and apartments around an 18-hole Gary Player signature 
golf course, and a wide range of private amenities including a 
sports and country club. Pun Hlaing Estate is often regarded 
as the best-managed and most premium residential estate in 
Yangon, providing unparalleled exclusivity and prestige. Key 
features of the community include an international school, 
Dulwich College Yangon and PHSH. Pun Hlaing Estate has won 
several awards at the Property Guru Myanmar Property Awards 
including the “Best Landscape Design” (2017) and the “Best 
Housing Development” (2016) for its Lotus Hill development.



Listed on the
SGX on

5  January 2018
Open trading

at
SGD 0.285

Expanding
portfolio acquiring 
Burma Boating 

in
March 2018

Expanding
portfolio acquiring 
Kayah Resort 

in
May 2018

As of
May 2018,

the group has a
Market Capital of
SGD 63.59 m



TOURISM
MEMORIES GROUP IS THE FIRST MYANMAR TOURISM-
CENTRIC COMPANY LISTED ON SGX.

With our strategy of an integrated tourism platform, Memories Group 
act as the tourism arm of the FMI Group, leveraging on its first-mover 
advantage and further establish its position as a leading tourism 
company in Myanmar.
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the “Burma Boating” brand, as well as existing contracts 
and bookings. Memories Group’s Experiences segment now 
includes luxury hot air ballooning, trekking, diving and boating.

Hotels

Memories Group has developed and will continue to develop 
new exciting hotels, resorts and lodges throughout the 
country’s major tourist and business destinations such as in 
Yangon (Awei Metta, also known as Pun Hlaing Lodge, FY2019), 
Mergui Archipelago (Awei Pila, October 2018), Hpa-an (Keinnara 
Hpa-An, January 2018), and Mawlamyaing (Hotel Suggati 
Mawlamyaing*, FY2019). Memories Group also acquired Kayah 
Resort, a boutique resort in Loikaw, Kayah State, in May 2018. 
The resort will be rebranded as Keinnara Loikaw.

* This is designed and built under the supervision of the 
Memories Group. It will be also managed by Memories Group 
upon completion.

Services

Established in Myanmar in 2000, AHTT is an internationally 
recognised destination management company which provides 
professional services with local knowledge, expertise and 
resources. Also known as Memories Travels, AHTT offers 
original tours in regions previously inaccessible to international 
travelers. 

Memories Group’s Experiences segment creates unforgettable moments you desire.

Memories Group operates as an “Integrated Tourism Platform” 
which synergistically connects all its businesses to provide a 
seamless, one-of-a-kind experience aimed at creating lasting 
memories. Comprising three business segments - Hotels, 
Experiences, and Services - Memories Group’s strategy is to 
leverage its first mover advantage and further establish its 
position as a leading tourism company in Myanmar.  

Experiences

Continuing the success of Balloons Over Bagan and Balloons 
Over Inle, Memories Group acquired Burma Boating on 5 
March 2018 for a cash consideration of about MMK 1,300 
million, expanding its business portfolio in the Experiences 
segment. Founded in 2014 by a group of passionate sailors 
who were spellbound when they first sailed into Myanmar 
waters, Burma Boating is a yachting business that offers cruise 
services on luxury yachts in the Mergui Archipelago in Southern 
Myanmar. Post completion, Memories Group's ownership of 
Burma Boating’s assets including the flagship Meta IV yacht, 
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FMIDecaux
Won a 20 year 

Exclusive Contract 
with YCDC

Construction of first bus 
shelters has started in 

June 2018

First 18 months 

350 Bus Shelters 
and 350 CIPs

Zero cost
for the 

Yangon Government
and the

people of Yangon



PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS 
WE STAY ACTIVE IN EXPLORING NEW BUSINESS 
OPPORTUNITIES, NEW PROJECTS AND NEW JOINT 
VENTURES.

Aiming to set a new benchmark for bus shelters in Yangon, FMIDecaux 
targets to create new job opportunities in operation and maintenance 
as well as having a mission to beautify the urban city landscape and 
contribute to the public transportation system in Yangon City.



52

Fi
rs

t M
ya

nm
ar

 In
ve

st
m

en
t C

o.
, L

td
.  

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

7-
20

18



53

Fi
rs

t M
ya

nm
ar

 In
ve

st
m

en
t C

o.
, L

td
.  

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

7-
20

18



54

Fi
rs

t M
ya

nm
ar

 In
ve

st
m

en
t C

o.
, L

td
.  

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

7-
20

18

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY   

The Yoma Group’s sustainability strategy is centred around building capacity and giving back to the communities in which it operates. 
The Yoma Group is committed to creating long-term economic value and growth for its stakeholders. This is achieved through the 
management of its operations and projects in a way that ensures commercial viability without compromising the environment in the 
longer term. The Yoma Group’s role in shaping the long-term viability of its strategy includes providing guidance on matters relating 
to stakeholders and incorporating sustainable practices into its business operations. The Yoma Group’s sustainability strategy 
targets the 3Ps -- People, Planet and Profit. 

The Yoma Group cares and is committed to:

SUSTAINABILITY INITIATIVES - PEOPLE

Livelihoods and Food Security Trust Fund and 
Yoma Bank 

On 18 December 2015, Livelihoods and Food Security Trust 
Fund (“LIFT”), a multi-donor fund (that has collaborations 
with UK aid, USAID and Australia Aid), and Yoma Bank signed 
an agreement that aims to increase agricultural productivity 
in Myanmar by collaborating with the private sector. The 
programme has three objectives: 1) increase mechanisation 
in the agricultural sector; 2) stimulate savings within the rural 
communities; and 3) improve agricultural productivity through 
access to finance. 

The programme is estimated to reach or help 181,000 rural 
families in Myanmar through direct and indirect changes. 
Rather than using an intermediary to simply pass on donor 
money to the intended recipients, the LIFT funds leverages 
Yoma Bank’s existing lending network to disburse funds. Backed 
by a donor-funded loan loss reserve, Yoma Bank is incentivised 
to lend to rural SMEs, smallholders and intermediaries on 
terms that might otherwise not be commercially viable given 
the prevailing interest rate ceiling and the banking industry’s 
lack of experience in the agricultural sector. 

PHSH’s Silver Ward

PHSH serves all socioeconomic segments of the population 
with two complementary business models. Most of the wards 
in the hospital operate as a private facility that charges rates 
appropriate for a high-quality care environment. In addition, 
the hospital also offers a Silver Ward section with six beds. 
This is available at significantly reduced rates for those who 
may not consider using private health due to cost concern 
and the standard of medical care is exactly the same as the 
private facility. Treatment is provided by the same doctors and 
patients in the Silver Ward and they will also have access to 
the same operating theatres. Silver Ward patients are provided 
with a bed, meals and other necessities for the duration of their 
stay.  

Yoma Yangon International Marathon

The Yoma Yangon International Marathon (“YYIM”) which 
started in 2013 aims to inspire a healthy lifestyle and to connect 
communities both locally and internationally through a shared 
passion for running. The sixth YYIM was held together with 
the YCDC on 21 January 2018, which received overwhelming 
interest and brought together 9,000 runners which is 12% 
more than in 2017. The funds raised from the YYIM registration 
fees were donated to five adopted charities that are committed 
to the education and healthcare of underprivileged children 
in Myanmar. A total of more than 3,000 children and students 

People
By creating a good workforce, 

conducting labour management, 
respecting human rights,

and implementing
good governance.

Profit
By improving economic
performance, consumer

satisfaction and shared values.

Planet
By respecting the environment, 

reducing greenhouse gas
emissions as well as energy,

water consumption and
managing solid waste.

Governance & Sustainability
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benefitted from these donations. Please find more details in 
Yoma Marathon website: http://yomayangonmarathon.com

United Nations Global Compact

The United Nations (“UN”) Global Compact was initiated in 2000 
by Secretary-General Kofi Annan to promote global corporate 
responsibility with 10 guiding principles. FMI has acceded to the 
UN Global Compact since November 2012 and is committed to 
running the company based on its framework of sustainable, 
transparent and responsible business practices. The Company 
is also communicating transparently on its responsible business 
activities in accordance with the 10 principles relating to human 
rights, labour rights, environment and anti-corruption. This is a 
significant change from the traditional ‘CSR’ communication of 
FMI featuring photographs of philanthropy.

FMI recognises the value of aligning with the international 
standards for responsible business and the 10 Principles of the 
UN Global Compact. It believes and subscribes to continually 
improve the integration of the UN Global Compact and its 
principles into business strategy, culture and daily operations.  

CREATING GOOD WORKFORCE

The Yoma Group Employee Satisfaction Vision is: We invest in 
our people to build careers around a shared culture of fairness, 
diversity, empowerment and recognition.

This reaffirms the Yoma Group’s core belief that great teamwork 
is the foundation of its business and empowering its employees 
will make the Yoma Group stronger. A strong workforce will 
enable the Yoma Group to better capitalise on the emerging 
opportunities in Myanmar. To this end, the Yoma Group has 
made a conscious effort to develop talent and create a diverse 
and inclusive work environment for its employees and ensure 
a strong understanding of its core values.
 
This focus was celebrated with the First Annual Myanmar 
Employer Award (2017), Yoma Bank was named the “Overall 
Best of the Best Local Myanmar Employer of the Year” and won 
a total of six other Awards. 

The Group Human Resources Department continually reviews 
and adjusts its organisational and workforce profile to align 
with the business opportunities and challenges. As of 31 
March 2018, FMI had a workforce of 3,642 employees. Full-time 
employees represent over 97% of the FMI Group’s total staff, 
with Yoma Bank accounting for 81%. The competition for talent 
continues and total turnover was 18.6% in FY2018. 
 
Training and Development

The Yoma Group continues to provide a range of training 
programmes to close skill-gaps and strengthen its workforce 
capabilities. As an emerging economy, Myanmar still 
experiences large skill-gaps in its domestic workforce and the 
Yoma Group is committed to doing its part to help close this 
gap by upskilling its own workforce.

 
The training programmes help to ensure that employees have 
the appropriate learning and development opportunities to 
build functional and technical skills to succeed at their jobs, and 
for leaders, the necessary management and leadership skills 
to inspire and lead their teams to perform well. In addition to 
internal and external training programmes, the Yoma Group 
has collaborated with organisations such as the Global Institute 
for Tomorrow (GIFT) to help selected employees develop their 
leadership capabilities.

All employees receive performance and progress reviews 
to align their performance, career aspirations and training 
needs. The Yoma Group also implements education assistance 
schemes and paid examination leave to assist employees in 
their goals to achieve higher education opportunities.

Engagement with Employees

Regular communication sessions including town hall meetings, 
both in person and utilising digital platforms such as 
Workplace, ensure that there are opportunities to hear from, 
and interact with senior management, including the Executive 
Chairman. This assists in the effective flow of information and 
the alignment of business goals and objectives across all levels 
of the workforce.

In addition, the Yoma Group organises the Wednesday Club, 
which is a meeting of senior managers which is held regularly. 
These meetings ensure strong alignment of the Yoma Group’s 
mission, values and strategy at a senior level.
 
Several family events such as the annual YYIM and offsite team 
meetings are held to foster camaraderie among employees.

Diversity and Equal Opportunity

The FMI Group strives to achieve a diverse and inclusive 
workforce that broadens its collective skills and perspectives 
as an organisation, which in turn drives growth and excellence. 
The FMI Group is a founding member of the Business Coalition 
for Gender Equality (BCGE), and is currently embarking on the 
certification for the international EDGE (Economic Dividends 
for Gender Equality) certification. Women currently comprise 
56% of the FMI Group’s workforce. 
 
The Yoma Group workforce comprises a diverse mix of foreign 
employees who are strategically identified for specific skill sets 
as well as repatriates who have international academic or work 
experiences and local nationals.
 
With such diversity, the Yoma Group works hard to ensure that 
all employees feel included regardless of their roles, cultures, 
nationalities and languages. It believes in a merit-based system 
where all employees, despite their varied backgrounds, are 
given the same level of opportunities to succeed. At the same 
time, employees are expected to be respectful and tolerant 
towards one another.
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Succession Planning

The Yoma Group believes that succession planning is vital to 
ensure continuity and leadership to help achieve its strategic 
objectives. Talent is constantly identified internally and 
externally to build strength and to serve as pipeline for leadership 
succession planning. The Yoma Group has implemented a five-
year “work yourself out of a job” programme where its senior 
executives and managers are encouraged to identify and train 
future executives to succeed them in their roles.

HELPING COMMUNITY

The FMI Group is committed to doing business that contributes 
to Myanmar while at the same time improve the quality of 
life of the workforce in the FMI Group, the community and 
society at large. The essence of FMI is to invest in a sustainable 
manner and to make sure that its businesses positively impact 
the environment and the lives of local citizens. FMI also looks 
beyond profits and focuses on how our business can benefit the 
greater community. With this framework in mind, the following 
CSR project activities were carried out during the year:

Community Light Centre

A Community Light Centre is an area the size of a football field 
that is illuminated by four solar lights. It is charged during the 
daytime, even in the rainy season and is automatically switched 
on at night. This community area provides a bright, safe and 
common place for the local villagers to gather, engage in 
sporting activities, and study. 

A particularly important aspect of Community Light Centre is 
their impact on education. In many rural areas, due to lack 
of government electricity infrastructure, candles are used by 
students to do their homework and study at night. Those who 
could not afford candles could therefore only study during 
daytime. A Community Light Centre changes this dynamically 
by providing a place for children to study, while also providing 
a place for teachers to hold additional classes, which is an 
extremely heart-warming phenomenon to witness. 

FMI has built a total of 15 Community Light Centre in Magway, 
Bago and Ayeyarwady Regions, as well as Rakhine, Kayin 
and Shan States, which has brought about a significant 
transformation in village life after sundown. Due to the huge 
impact of these Community Light Centres on the quality of life, 
the FMI Group has decided to take on this project as a significant 
part of its CSR efforts. FMI plans to continue building more 
Community Light Centres in the coming financial year. The 
cost of building one Community Light Centre is approximately 
MMK 8.5 million, and FMI welcomes any sponsorship, donation 
or support for this project from shareholders and the general 
public.

Group CSR Director, Mr. Martin Pun presents 2018’s CSR initiatives 
on Wednesday Club to key executives and management team.

More than More than More than

people benefited from the 
Responsible Business

Seminars and
Workshops

children benefited
from our

CSR Projects

people participated
in the 6th Yoma Yangon

International
Marathon

2,000 3,000 9,000
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SUSTAINABILITY INITIATIVES - PLANET

Earth Hour 2018

Earth Hour is a worldwide movement organised by the World 
Wide Fund for Nature (WWF). The event is held annually by 
encouraging individuals, communities, and businesses to 
turn off non-essential electric lights for one hour, as a symbol 
of commitment to the planet. This year, the Yoma Group 
partnered with WWF to join Earth Hour by turning off lights as 
a symbolic gesture of energy saving in the fight against climate 
change on 24 March 2018 from 8:30 pm to 9:30 pm. To mark 
Earth Hour on The Campus (the new office building in the 
Pun Hlaing Estate), the newly installed solar panels located on 
the roof of The Campus went operational and now provide a 
substantial amount of the building’s energy. 

Paperless Culture

A paperless culture is promoted across the Yoma Group and 
electronic communication is used predominantly. This is further 
supported by a cloud-based file sharing system to eliminate the 
need to print and photocopy paper-based documents. 

Less Plastic Campaign 

The Less Single Use Plastic Campaign is one of the Yoma 
Group’s first initiatives to reduce plastic consumption. The 
Yoma Group saw amazing participation and contribution from 
its employees for Community Clean Up Day in StarCity on 27 
March 2018. 

EMR-ERP system of PHSH

PHSH has started the first EMR-ERP system in Myanmar with 
a fully automated paperless global best practice technology 
platform that is set up to achieve Healthcare Information 
and Management Systems Society (USA) Level 6 accreditation 
(Global Gold Standard for Healthcare Delivery Systems) within 
the next three years. The platform integrates all our clinical 
and non-clinical operations real-time with a new financial 

management system. The key feature of this platform is a fully 
computerised and standardised clinical recording and order 
system driving all parts of hospital operations and resource 
consumption right across the network.

SUSTAINABILITY INITIATIVES – SHARED 
VALUE

Creating Shared Value in banking: Yoma Bank 
and Wave Money 

Access to finance is a key challenge in the agricultural sector. 
Wave Money provides a simple and fast way of sending and 
receiving money either over the counter or via an easy to use 
mobile app. Through Wave Money, thousands of people a day 
are able to send money to support their families and facilitate 
business operations, giving millions of people access to formal 
financial services.

Contributing through employment: Keinnara 
Hpa-An 

The Yoma Group has always recognised the value it can 
create through providing employment. As the economy of 
Myanmar transitions from a reliance on agriculture to one 
where services play a greater role, there has been a significant 
lack of skilled workers. In response to this, the Yoma Group 
has recently focused on the upskilling of the workforce to 
support an economy. As part of the planning for Keinnara 
Hpa-An, the Yoma Group put in place vocational training to 
help construction workers move into hotel roles. The training 
programme has been successful with many roles in the hotel 
now filled by previously unskilled workers.

Community Light Centers

Sr. State / Region Name Light Centers Household Population

001 Magway Region 3 Over 910 3,714

002 Rakhine State 5 1,232 5,404

003 Bago Region 2 Over 1,600 3,104

004 Kayin State 2 271 1,872

005 Ayeyarwady Region 2 472 2,070

006 Shan State 1 220 1,300
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Corporate Governance Report
Good corporate governance is one of FMI’s foundational principles. The Company seeks to manage its affairs in a fair and transparent 
manner, to create long-term sustainable value for its shareholders and to the wider community through ethical and responsible 
business practices. This report describes the corporate governance practices that were in place during FY2018. We believe that it is 
the Company’s inherent responsibility to disclose timely and accurate information to shareholders to allow them to make informed 
investment decisions, and as such, FMI is constantly looking for ways to improve and incorporate international best practices into 
its corporate governance system.  

Highlights of Corporate Governance Achievements

Board Policy

FMI is a holding company with designated CEOs responsible 
for its subsidiaries, supported by Group Corporate Governance 
Framework, Policies, Procedures, and Standards.

There is a clear separation of roles and responsibilities in FMI's 
Board so that no one individual represents a considerable 
concentration of power. The Audit Committee, Nominating 
Committee and Remuneration Committee (collectively, the 
“Board Committees”) comprise Non-Executive Directors only.

Board of Directors

FMI’s Board forms the core of FMI’s corporate governance 
practices. The Board leads and oversees the decisions of 
FMI’s management team (the “Management”) and serves 
to protect the long-term interests of shareholders and the 
wider community. FMI believes that an active, well-informed, 
accountable and independent Board is essential to ensure high 
standards of corporate governance.

Function of the Board

The Company is managed by the Board which leads and 
controls, and is collectively responsible for overseeing the 
business and affairs of the Company, and for the long-
term success of the FMI Group. The Management remains 
accountable to the Board where they are responsible for the 
day-to-day operations and administration of the Company in 
accordance with the policies and strategy set by the Board. 
In support of this, the Board has established a framework of 
effective risk management that allows it to assess and manage 
the risks associated with Company’s businesses.

The principal functions of the Board include:

a)	 providing entrepreneurial leadership, setting strategic 
objectives and ensuring that the necessary financial and 
human resources are in place for the Company to meet 
its objectives;

b)	 establishing a framework of prudent and effective 
controls which enables risks to be assessed and managed, 
including the safeguarding of shareholders’ interests and 
the Company’s assets;

Myanmar’s

Most Transparent Company

on Pwint Thit Sa Report

Ranked #1
for FMI (2016, 2018)

Myanmar Employer Award

The Best Local 
Myanmar Employer

of the Year
Yoma Bank (2017) 

A member of the

UN Global
Impact 

Network
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c)	 reviewing Management’s performance;

d)	 identifying the key stakeholder groups and recognising 
that their perceptions affect the Company’s reputation;

e)	 setting the Company’s values and standards (including 
ethical standards);

f)	 ensuring that obligations to shareholders and other 
stakeholders are understood and met; and

g)	 considering sustainability issues, such as environmental 
and social factors, as part of its strategic formulation. 

Role of Chairman -  U THEIM WAI @ SERGE PUN  

U Theim Wai plays an instrumental role in providing the 
Company with strong leadership and vision, assisting the Board 
to develop policies and strategies and ensuring that these are 
implemented effectively, as well as to promote high standards 
of corporate governance.

As Executive Chairman, he bears primary responsibility for the 
workings of the Board by ensuring effectiveness in all aspects 
of its role, including setting the agenda for Board meetings 
with input from management and exercising control over the 
quality, quantity and timeliness of information flow between the 
Board and Management to encourage constructive relations 
within the Board and between the Board and Management. 
To promote a culture of openness and debate at the Board, 
he ensures that adequate time is available for discussion of 
all agenda items, in particular, strategic issues, and he also 
facilitates the effective contribution of Non-Executive Directors. 
At the AGM and other shareholder meetings, he plays a pivotal 
role in fostering constructive dialogue between shareholders, 
the Board and Management.  

Board Accountability

The Board is ultimately accountable to shareholders regarding 
the management of the Company’s affairs. The Management 
recognises the importance of providing the Board with timely 
and accurate information, and seeks to keep the Board 
informed of any material developments. This ensures that the 
Board has the proper information to make informed decisions 
on the Company’s behalf. The Board reviews and approves 
the Company’s annual financial statements before they are 
released, and aims to provide shareholders with a balanced 
and clear assessment of the Company’s financial position.  

Board Independence

With Non-Executive Directors in the majority, the Board 
maintains a strong independence. The Non-Executive members 
of the Board bring a diverse set of experiences and opinions 
that help to create an environment of independent thinking.  
Any decision involving an Executive Director or company 
related to an Executive Director is made with the concerned 
Executive Director abstaining from voting and not participating 
in deliberations. This ensures that Board decisions are made in 
accordance with the interests of all stakeholders and that no 
individual dominates the Board’s decisions.    

Board Approval

The Board reviews all decisions that may have a material impact 
on the Company’s financial position or earnings. In addition, 
the Board approves the declaration of dividends, the publishing 
of the financial statements, the acquisition or disposal of key 
assets and the nomination of Directors. The Board’s advice is 
sought on all key financial decisions, strategies, and projects 
with special attention given to the Board’s opinion on the 
impact of the Management’s decisions on the local community.   

Name
Date of First 
Appointment

Last –
Re-election

Board ARMC RC NC

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun 12 Sep 2004 2016 Chairman - - -

U Tun Tun 17 Nov 2009 2017 Member - - -

U Linn Myaing 2 Jul 2012 2015 Member - - -

U Myat Thin Aung 31 Jul 1992 2017 Member - Chairman -

U Than Aung 31 Jul 1992 2017 Member - - Member

Prof. Dr. Yi Yi Myint 17 Nov 2009 2015 Member Member Member -

Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet 3 Dec 2013 2015 Member - - Chairman

U Kyi Aye 5 Nov 2015 2016 Member Chairman Member -

U Nyunt Tin 29 Jul 2016 N.A Member Member - -

Prof. Dr. Kyaw Yin Hlaing 29 Jul 2016 N.A Member - - Member

Table-1, The Composition of the Board and Board Committees for FY2018 is set out above.
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Board Orientation

The Company conducts an induction programme for newly 
appointed Directors which seeks to familiarise Directors with 
the FMI Group’s businesses, board processes, internal controls 
and governance practices. It includes site visits, Management 
presentations on the FMI Group’s businesses, strategic plans 
and objectives, meetings with key management personnel and 
briefings on key areas of the Company’s operation.

Board Training and Development

Directors are encouraged to attend seminars, conferences and 
workshops to supplement and keep themselves updated with 
current market/industry information and to ensure continuous 
professional development at the Company’s expense. 
 
Size and Composition of the Board

For FY2018, the Board comprises 10 Directors, with seven 
Non-Executive Directors and three Executive Directors. 
The Non-Executive Directors bring strong backgrounds in 
entrepreneurship, finance and academia which allows for 
effective decision making. With highly respected members 
of the community as Board members, the Company benefits 
from a diverse range of objective perspectives. To learn more 

about the qualifications of each Director, please see the Board 
of Directors section of this Annual Report.  

The Directors that served the Company during FY2018 were:

Executive Directors

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
U Tun Tun
U Linn Myaing

Non-Executive Directors

U Myat Thin Aung
U Than Aung
Prof. Dr. Yi Yi Myint
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet
U Kyi Aye
U Nyunt Tin 
Prof. Dr. Kyaw Yin Hlaing 

Directors’ Participation

All Directors are encouraged to voice their views on the 
Management’s decisions and share opinions during Board 
meetings. The Board seeks to create a receptive environment 

Remuneration
Band & Name of Director

Base/Fixed 
Salary

Variable Component Or 
Bonuses (%)

Benefits-in-kind, 
Allowance And 

Other Incentives
Total

Paid Deferred

Executives Directors

MMK 60 Million – MMK 350 Million
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun

- 80% - 20% 100%

MMK 40 Million – MMK 100 Million
U Tun Tun 100% - - - 100%

U Linn Myaing 100% - - - 100%

Table-2, The level and mix of each of the Executive Directors’ remuneration for FY2018 are set out above. 

Fee Other Benefits

Basic Retainer Fee

Non-Executive Director 10,000,000 Nil

Fee for Appointment to Audit Committee

Committee Chairman 2,000,000 Nil

Committee Member 1,000,000 Nil

Fee for Appointment to Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee

Committee Chairman 1,500,000 Nil

Committee Member 1,000,000 Nil

Table-3, The fee structure of the Non- Executive Directors for FY 2018.
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where perspectives can be voiced openly. Having the benefit of 
outside perspectives and experiences, Non-Executive Directors 
are especially encouraged to speak their minds to ensure the 
Company’s decisions accurately account for different interests. 
Non-Executive Directors may also meet and communicate 
outside of Board meetings in order to discuss Company 
matters in an independent setting.

Selection of New Directors

The Nominating Committee works with the Board to determine 
the appropriate qualifications, skills and experience for the 
Board as a whole and its individual members with the objective 
of creating a diverse Board comprised of individuals with 
experience in finance, business, government, and education.  
Any appointment or removal of a Director is subject to approval 
from the entire Board. 

The Company is strongly committed to fostering diversity and 
inclusion on its Board, leveraging on the collective strength of 
its members who passes diverse abilities, knowledge, skills and 
professional experiences which could contribute to spurring 
innovative thinking and sustainable competitive advantages for 
the long-term growth and success of the company. 

Board Meetings and Attendance

Dates for Board meetings are communicated to all Directors in 
advance. Meetings are convened when material developments 
in the Company’s affairs are likely to occur, and meetings are 

held at the Company’s registered office. All materials required 
for proper consideration of issues affecting the Company are 
sent to Directors in advance to allow them to carefully consider 
the proper course of action. The Board meets to decide the date 
on the Annual General Meeting and Board Committees usually 
meet before the formal Board meeting, or whenever the need 
arises. The recommendations of the Board Committees are 
placed before the Board for approval. 

Risk Management

The FMI Group instils and promotes a risk management culture 
to allow prudent risk-based decision-making by embedding 
core values, principles, compliance and dynamic internal control 
systems in its day-to-day operations. Ongoing communication, 
education, monitoring and mitigation are an integral part of the 
FMI Group’s dynamic risk management culture and is adopted 
across all its businesses.

Investment assessments and due diligence exercises are 
carried out on prospective business opportunities to ensure 
that potential financial, operational and strategic risks are 
identified and mitigated prior to commitment.  In addition, 
Fraud Risk Assessment is conducted across the group as part 
of the Annual Internal Audit Programme to ensure consistency 
with anti-corruption commitment.

Half yearly and annual enterprise risk assessments are carried 
out to validate the existence and effectiveness of the controls 
in place, review the changes in risk profile, and update the 
existing controls if required.

Board 
Meeting

Audit 
Committee 

Meeting

Nominating 
Committee 

Meeting

Remuneration 
Committee

Meeting

Annual 
General 
Meeting

Total number of meetings held 3 2 1 1 1

Executive Directors

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun 3 N.A. N.A. N.A. 1

U Tun Tun 3 N.A. N.A. N.A. 1

U Linn Myaing 3 N.A. N.A. N.A. 1

Non-Executive Directors

U Myat Thin Aung 3 N.A. N.A. 1 1

U Than Aung 3 N.A. 1 N.A. 1

Prof. Dr. Yi Yi Myint 3 2 N.A. 1 1

Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet 1 N.A. 1 N.A. 1

U Kyi Aye 3 2 N.A. 1 1

U Nyunt Tin 3 2 N.A. N.A. 1

Prof. Dr. Kyaw Yin Hlaing 1 N.A. Absent N.A. 1

Table-4, Directors’ Attendance at meetings held during FY2018.
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The Risk Management Framework provides a sound system 
of risk management and internal control, and is underpinned 
by a strong foundation of the FMI Group’s strong corporate 
governance culture, supported by five pillars of management 
control system being: Policies & Procedures; Internal & 
External Audits; Due Diligence Reviews; Compliance Monitoring 
& Reporting; and Enterprise Risk Assessments, all of which are 
overseen by the Audit Committee and the Board.

Monitoring and Reporting

The risks and the adequacy and effectiveness of mitigating 
controls identified are closely monitored and validated as part 
of Enterprise Risk Assessment, all of which are registered on 
the enterprise risk register for ongoing review and follow up.

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors 
compliance with the FMI Group’s risk management policies and 
procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the Risk Management 
Framework in relation to the risks faced by the FMI Group. 

Any existing or new risks that are identified as posing a high 
risk to the FMI Group, or which exceeds the risk tolerance level 
of the FMI Group, or requires immediate corrective actions, will 
be reported to the senior management and Audit Committee 
as soon as practicable.       

Risk-Based Internal Audit

Risk-based internal audit is one of the main functions carried 
out by Group Risk Management to help the businesses to 
accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined 
approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk 
management, control and governance processes through:

a)	 identification of potential risks inherent within the FMI 
Group and external risks which the FMI Group faces in 
the pursuit of its corporate objectives; 

b)	 assessing and rating all the identified risks in a meaningful 
way in order for the FMI Group to determine the extent of 
risks that it faces;

c)	 treating all identified risks, as far as possible, through 
established controls or pending control plans;

d)	 monitoring and updating any changes to the severity of 
the identified risks and any new risks that have emerged; 
and 

e)	 reporting key risks and the established controls (or 
pending controls plans) to the Audit Committee and the 
Board regularly.
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Report of the Directors

The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd. 
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended March 31, 2018.

1	 DIRECTORS 

	 The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are: 

	 U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun	
	 U Myat Thin Aung	
	 U Than Aung	
	 Prof. Dr. Yi Yi Myint	
	 U Tun Tun	
	 U Linn Myaing	
	 Prof Dr. Aung Tun Thet	
	 U Kyi Aye	
	 U Nyunt Tin	
	 Prof. Dr. Kyaw Yin Hlaing	

2	 PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

	 The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding.

3	 RESULTS OF THE GROUP

	 The financial position of the Group for the financial year ended March 31, 2018 and the financial performance of the Group for 
the year then ended are set out on pages 74 to 75 and page 76 respectively.

4	 DIVIDENDS

	 A final dividend of MMK 100 per share, along with one (1) ordinary bonus share for every twenty (20) ordinary shares owned 
has been proposed as per a resolution made at the Board of Directors Meeting of the Company held on June 25, 2018.

5	 AUDITORS

	 The financial statements have been audited by Cho Cho Aung, Certified Public Accountant and Financial Consultant of Myanmar 
Vigour & Associates Limited.  

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
Executive Chairman

U Tun Tun
Executive Director

June 28, 2018
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Statement of the Directors

In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 74 to 120 are drawn up so 
as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at March 31, 2018, and the financial performance, changes in 
equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds 
to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

 
ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
Executive Chairman

U Tun Tun
Executive Director

June 28, 2018
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Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

74 to 120.
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Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2018

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT MARCH 31, 2018 
 
 
 
   Group 
 Note  2018 2017 
   MMK’000 MMK’000 
    (Restated) 
ASSETS 
   

  

     
Current assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 5  286,955,946 203,244,224 
Trade and other receivables 6  47,563,150 40,857,771 
Loans and advances to customers,     
   by the bank subsidiary 7  1,366,349,494 1,098,936,068 
Inventories 8  1,019,575 660,171 
Advances and prepayments 9  32,610,567 23,158,382 
Total current assets   1,734,498,732 1,366,856,616 
     
Non-current assets     
Other non-current assets 10  14,267,296 6,273,449 
Available-for-sale investments 11  51,448,484 21,228,137 
Investment in joint venture 12  3,358,901 2,775,833 
Investment in associates 13  58,743,603 61,962,481 
Investment in subsidiaries 4  - - 
Government and other securities,     
   by the bank subsidiary 14  263,470,605 218,733,429 
Investment properties 15  2,767,701 1,385,947 
Property, plant and equipment 16  107,049,662 101,304,230 
Goodwill 17  52,731,087 52,730,352 
Intangible assets 18  4,478,163 3,728,397 
Total non-current assets   558,315,502 470,122,255 
     
Total assets   2,292,814,234 1,836,978,871 
     
     
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY     
     
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 19  124,414,860 67,215,929 
Deposits and balances from customers,     
   by the bank subsidiary   1,811,540,196 1,434,249,508 
Fund restricted for LIFT-AFP,     
   by the bank subsidiary   2,321,480 4,623,640 
Provision for income tax   3,493,955 3,513,793 
Borrowings 20  10,997,900 7,491,000 
Total current liabilities   1,952,768,391 1,517,093,870 
     
Non-current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 19  - 15,856 
Borrowings 20  32,321,163 36,610,625 
Total non-current liabilities   32,321,163 36,626,481 
     
Total liabilities   1,985,089,554 1,553,720,351 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2018

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT MARCH 31, 2018 
 
 
 
    Group 
  Note  2018 2017 
    MMK’000 MMK’000 
     (Restated) 
      
Capital and Reserves      
Share capital  21  25,825,076 23,480,013 
Share premium  21  67,936,978 70,282,041 
Reserves  23  32,938,132 21,757,328 
Retained profits    92,802,889 86,420,185 
Equity attributable to owners of the      
   Company    219,503,075 201,939,567 
Non-controlling interests    88,221,605 81,318,953 
Total equity    307,724,680 283,258,520 
      
Total liabilities and equity    2,292,814,234 1,836,978,871 
      
 
ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS 
 
 
 
 
 
   
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun  U Tun Tun 
Executive Chairman  Executive Director 
 
 
 
Date: June 28, 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and 
other Comprehensive Income
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018 
 
  Group 
 Note  2018 2017 
   MMK’000 MMK’000 
    (Restated) 
     
Revenue 24  205,619,926 161,349,879 
     
Cost of sales   (132,854,017) (108,846,220) 
     
Gross Profit   72,765,909 52,503,659 
     
Administrative expenses 25  (66,419,653) (45,503,208) 
     
Finance expenses 26  (3,492,411) (1,827,701) 
     
Listing expenses   (36,951) (449,756) 
     
Other gains or losses 27  13,340,197 5,479,557 
     
Share of profit of associates, net of tax   11,765,504 7,675,647 
     
Profit before income tax   27,922,595 17,878,198 
     
Income tax expense 28  (3,145,142) (2,977,672) 
     
Profit for the year   24,777,453 14,900,526 
     
Other comprehensive income     
     
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss   
     
Fair value adjustment of investments 23  2,192,103 2,129,142 
     
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax   2,192,103 2,129,142 
     
Total comprehensive income for the year   26,969,556 17,029,668 
     
Profit attributable to:     
   Owners of the Company   18,617,449 12,154,203 
   Non-controlling interests   6,160,004 2,746,323 
   24,777,453 14,900,526 
     
Total comprehensive income attributable to:     
   Owners of the Company   19,990,760 14,283,345 
   Non-controlling interests   6,978,796 2,746,323 
   26,969,556 17,029,668 
Earnings per share     
   Basic (MMK) 29  746 518 
     
 
ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun  U Tun Tun 
Executive Chairman  Executive Director 
 
Date: June 28, 2018 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 



77

Fi
rs

t M
ya

nm
ar

 In
ve

st
m

en
t C

o.
, L

td
.  

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

7-
20

18

Co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 S
ta

te
m

en
t o

f C
ha

ng
es

 in
 E

qu
it

y
Fo

r 
Th

e 
Ye

ar
 E

nd
ed

 M
ar

ch
 3

1,
 2

01
8

CO
N

SO
LI

D
A

TE
D

 S
TA

TE
M

EN
T 

O
F 

CH
A

N
G

ES
 IN

 E
Q

U
IT

Y 
FO

R 
TH

E 
YE

A
R 

EN
D

ED
 M

A
RC

H
 3

1,
 2

01
8 

    
 

A
tt

ri
bu

ta
bl

e 
to

 o
w

ne
rs

 o
f t

he
 C

om
pa

ny
 

 
 

 
 

N
ot

e 
Sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l 

Sh
ar

e 
pr

em
iu

m
 

Re
se

rv
es

 
Re

ta
in

ed
 

pr
of

it
s 

 
To

ta
l 

N
on

-
co

nt
ro

lli
ng

 
in

te
re

st
s 

To
ta

l 
eq

ui
ty

 
 

 
M

M
K’

00
0 

M
M

K’
00

0 
M

M
K’

00
0 

M
M

K’
00

0 
M

M
K’

00
0 

M
M

K’
00

0 
M

M
K’

00
0 

G
ro

up
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Ba

la
nc

e 
at

 A
pr

il 
1,

 2
01

6 
 

23
,4

80
,0

13
 

70
,2

82
,0

41
 

12
,8

32
,3

14
 

80
,2

10
,6

33
 

18
6,

80
5,

00
1 

63
,3

63
,4

06
 

25
0,

16
8,

40
7 

Ad
ju

st
m

en
t 

 
- 

- 
- 

1,
40

7,
55

0 
1,

40
7,

55
0 

88
8,

54
0 

2,
29

6,
09

0 
To

ta
l c

om
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 in
co

m
e f

or
 th

e 
ye

ar
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Pr
of

it 
fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r 
 

- 
- 

- 
12

,1
54

,2
03

 
12

,1
54

,2
03

 
2,

74
6,

32
3 

14
,9

00
,5

26
 

O
th

er
 co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 in
co

m
e 

(R
es

ta
te

d)
 

 
- 

- 
2,

12
9,

14
2 

- 
2,

12
9,

14
2 

- 
2,

12
9,

14
2 

To
ta

l 
 

- 
- 

2,
12

9,
14

2 
12

,1
54

,2
03

 
14

,2
83

,3
45

 
2,

74
6,

32
3 

17
,0

29
,6

68
 

Ca
pi

ta
l r

es
er

ve
 a

dd
ed

 
23

 
- 

- 
6,

79
5,

87
2 

(4
,1

82
,3

99
) 

2,
61

3,
47

3 
2,

51
0,

98
4 

5,
12

4,
45

7 
Tr

an
sa

ct
io

ns
 w

ith
 o

w
ne

rs
, r

ec
og

ni
se

d 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
di

re
ct

ly
 in

 e
qu

ity
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

D
iv

id
en

ds
 p

ai
d 

22
 

- 
- 

- 
(3

,1
69

,8
02

) 
(3

,1
69

,8
02

) 
- 

(3
,1

69
,8

02
) 

Ad
di

tio
na

l c
ap

ita
l c

on
tr

ib
ut

io
n 

 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

11
,8

09
,7

00
 

11
,8

09
,7

00
 

To
ta

l 
 

- 
- 

- 
(3

,1
69

,8
02

) 
(3

,1
69

,8
02

) 
11

,8
09

,7
00

 
8,

63
9,

89
8 

Ba
la

nc
e 

as
 a

t M
ar

ch
 3

1,
 2

01
7 

(R
es

ta
te

d)
 

 
23

,4
80

,0
13

 
70

,2
82

,0
41

 
21

,7
57

,3
28

 
86

,4
20

,1
85

 
20

1,
93

9,
56

7 
81

,3
18

,9
53

 
28

3,
25

8,
52

0 
To

ta
l c

om
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 in
co

m
e f

or
 th

e 
ye

ar
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Pr
of

it 
fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r 
 

- 
- 

- 
18

,6
17

,4
49

 
18

,6
17

,4
49

 
6,

16
0,

00
4 

24
,7

77
,4

53
 

O
th

er
 co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 in
co

m
e 

 
- 

- 
1,

37
3,

31
1 

- 
1,

37
3,

31
1 

81
8,

79
2 

2,
19

2,
10

3 
To

ta
l 

 
- 

- 
1,

37
3,

31
1 

18
,6

17
,4

49
 

19
,9

90
,7

60
 

6,
97

8,
79

6 
26

,9
69

,5
56

 
Ca

pi
ta

l r
es

er
ve

 a
dd

ed
 

23
 

- 
- 

9,
80

7,
49

3 
(9

,8
86

,7
44

) 
(7

9,
25

1)
 

(7
6,

14
4)

 
(1

55
,3

95
) 

Tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

 w
ith

 o
w

ne
rs

, r
ec

og
ni

se
d 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

di
re

ct
ly

 in
 e

qu
ity

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Bo

nu
s s

ha
re

s i
ss

ue
d 

21
 

2,
34

5,
06

3 
(2

,3
45

,0
63

) 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

D
iv

id
en

ds
 p

ai
d 

22
 

- 
- 

- 
(2

,3
48

,0
01

) 
(2

,3
48

,0
01

) 
- 

(2
,3

48
,0

01
) 

To
ta

l 
 

2,
34

5,
06

3 
(2

,3
45

,0
63

) 
- 

(2
,3

48
,0

01
) 

(2
,3

48
,0

01
) 

- 
(2

,3
48

,0
01

) 
Ba

la
nc

e 
as

 a
t M

ar
ch

 3
1,

 2
01

8 
 

25
,8

25
,0

76
 

67
,9

36
,9

78
 

32
,9

38
,1

32
 

92
,8

02
,8

89
 

21
9,

50
3,

07
5 

88
,2

21
,6

05
 

30
7,

72
4,

68
0 

 Se
e 

ac
co

m
pa

ny
in

g 
no

te
s t

o 
fin

an
ci

al
 st

at
em

en
ts

. 



78

Fi
rs

t M
ya

nm
ar

 In
ve

st
m

en
t C

o.
, L

td
.  

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

7-
20

18

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018

FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018 
 

 
 

  Group 
  2018 2017 
  MMK’000 MMK’000 
   (Restated) 
Operating activities    
    
Profit before income tax  27,922,595 17,878,198 
Adjustments for:    

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  6,798,664 4,214,154 
Finance expense  3,455,434 1,814,208 
Specific provision on non-performing loan  2,647,582 - 
Property, plant and equipment written off  145,668 99,603 
Amortisation of intangible assets  759,711 489,589 
Depreciation of investment properties  31,250 31,250 
Allowance for doubtful debts  13,560 - 
Other non-current assets written off  5,042 - 
Inventories written off  284 153 
Adjustment for available-for-sale investments  (1,197) (44,792) 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (17,774)  (80,083) 
Adjustment for reserve  (155,395) 5,124,457 
Fair value gain on investment properties  (1,413,004) - 
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments  (11,858,921) (5,286,134) 
Share of result of associates  (11,765,504) (7,675,647) 
Write-off of investment in associates  - 140,840 
Adjustment for Pun Hlaing International Hospital Ltd  - 2,296,090 
Adjustment for property, plant and equipment  828,582 (202,694) 
Increase in asset capitalization  - (2,610,759) 

Operating cash flows before movement in working capital   17,396,577 16,188,433 
    
Trade and other receivables  15,276,155 (16,207,250) 
Inventories  (359,688) (47,854) 
Advances and prepayments  (9,235,178) (10,379,800) 
Loans and advances to customers, by the bank subsidiary  (292,056,102) (376,389,153) 
Trade and other payables  57,183,075 30,484,444 

Deposits and balances from customers, by the bank subsidiary 
 

377,290,688 339,445,560 
AFP foreign currency deposit, by the bank subsidiary  (2,302,160) 1,171,238 

    
Cash generated from (used in) operations  163,193,367 (15,734,382) 
Income tax paid  (3,381,987) (2,595,833) 
Net cash from (used in) operating activities 
 

 159,811,380 (18,330,215) 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018

FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

  Group 
  2018 2017 
  MMK’000 MMK’000 
   (Restated) 
    
Investing activities    

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments  25,966,200 6,444,105 
Dividends from associates  9,349,500 3,600,000 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  28,188 103,390 
Cash outflow from acquisition of subsidiary  (735) - 
Advance payment for future business acquisition  (11,116,496) 5,826,551 
Additions to intangible asset  (1,509,477) (1,421,053) 
Investment in associates  (9,398,647) - 
Additions to property, plant and equipment  (13,528,760) (16,614,331) 
Investment in available-for-sales investments  (26,237,261) (14,645,500) 

Additions in government and other securities, by the bank    subsidiary  

(43,066,173) 20,951,652 
Quasi-equity loans to associates  - (6,742,685) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (69,513,661) (2,497,871) 
    
Financing activities    

Proceeds from borrowings  7,500,000 29,604,437 
Dividends paid  (2,348,001) (3,169,802) 
Interest paid  (3,455,434) (1,814,208) 
Repayment of borrowings  (8,282,562) - 
Capital addition from non-controlling interest  - 11,809,700 

Net cash (used in) from financing activities  (6,585,997) 36,430,127 
    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  83,711,722 15,602,041 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  203,244,224 187,642,183 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  286,955,946 203,244,224 
    

FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

  Group 
  2018 2017 
  MMK’000 MMK’000 
   (Restated) 
    
Investing activities    

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments  25,966,200 6,444,105 
Dividends from associates  9,349,500 3,600,000 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  28,188 103,390 
Cash outflow from acquisition of subsidiary  (735) - 
Advance payment for future business acquisition  (11,116,496) 5,826,551 
Additions to intangible asset  (1,509,477) (1,421,053) 
Investment in associates  (9,398,647) - 
Additions to property, plant and equipment  (13,528,760) (16,614,331) 
Investment in available-for-sales investments  (26,237,261) (14,645,500) 

Additions in government and other securities, by the bank    subsidiary  

(43,066,173) 20,951,652 
Quasi-equity loans to associates  - (6,742,685) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (69,513,661) (2,497,871) 
    
Financing activities    

Proceeds from borrowings  7,500,000 29,604,437 
Dividends paid  (2,348,001) (3,169,802) 
Interest paid  (3,455,434) (1,814,208) 
Repayment of borrowings  (8,282,562) - 
Capital addition from non-controlling interest  - 11,809,700 

Net cash (used in) from financing activities  (6,585,997) 36,430,127 
    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  83,711,722 15,602,041 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  203,244,224 187,642,183 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  286,955,946 203,244,224 
    

FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

  Group 
  2018 2017 
  MMK’000 MMK’000 
   (Restated) 
    
Investing activities    

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments  25,966,200 6,444,105 
Dividends from associates  9,349,500 3,600,000 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  28,188 103,390 
Cash outflow from acquisition of subsidiary  (735) - 
Advance payment for future business acquisition  (11,116,496) 5,826,551 
Additions to intangible asset  (1,509,477) (1,421,053) 
Investment in associates  (9,398,647) - 
Additions to property, plant and equipment  (13,528,760) (16,614,331) 
Investment in available-for-sales investments  (26,237,261) (14,645,500) 

Additions in government and other securities, by the bank    subsidiary  

(43,066,173) 20,951,652 
Quasi-equity loans to associates  - (6,742,685) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (69,513,661) (2,497,871) 
    
Financing activities    

Proceeds from borrowings  7,500,000 29,604,437 
Dividends paid  (2,348,001) (3,169,802) 
Interest paid  (3,455,434) (1,814,208) 
Repayment of borrowings  (8,282,562) - 
Capital addition from non-controlling interest  - 11,809,700 

Net cash (used in) from financing activities  (6,585,997) 36,430,127 
    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  83,711,722 15,602,041 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  203,244,224 187,642,183 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  286,955,946 203,244,224 
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Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018

1 GENERAL 
 
 The Company (Registration No. 159/1992-1993) is incorporated in Myanmar with its principal place of business and 

registered office at The Campus, 1, Office Park, Rain Tree Drive, Pun Hlaing Estate, Hlaing Thayar Township, Yangon, 
11401, Myanmar. 

 
 The Company is listed on the Yangon Stock Exchange Joint-Venture Company Limited on March 25, 2016. The financial 

statements are prepared in Myanmar Kyats (“MMK”). 
 
 The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries, joint venture 

and associates are disclosed in Note 4, 11 and 12 to these financial statements. 
 
 The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence 

for the foreseeable future and, therefore, continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial 
statements. 

 
 The financial statements of the Group for the year ended March 31, 2018 were authorised for issue by the Board of 

Directors on June 28, 2018. 
 
 
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis, except 

as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Myanmar 
Companies Act and Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”). 

 
 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - There have been no new/revised MFRSs and Interpretations of MFRS 

adopted by the Myanmar Accountancy Council in the year. 
 

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company 
and entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the 
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. 

 
 The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as 
appropriate. 

 
 Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line 

with those used by other members of the Group. 
 
 All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. 
 
 Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. The interest of non-

controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 
entity's net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured (at date of original business combination) either at 
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-controlling interests 
are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another MFRS. Subsequent to acquisition, the 
carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling 
interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests 
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

 
 Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 

transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the 
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed 
to owners of the Company. 

 
 When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the 

aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous 

12 13
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Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018

carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. 
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. 
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as would be required if the 
relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date 
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under MAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an 
associate or jointly controlled entity. 

 
  
             BUSINESS COMBINATIONS – The acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. 

The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition date fair values of assets given, 
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the Group in 
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

 
 Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 

consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values are 
adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below). The 
subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement 
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified 
as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in 
accordance with MAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, or MAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. 

 
 Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity are 

remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if 
any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have 
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would 
be appropriate if that interest were disposed of. 

 
 The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under the 

MFRS are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that: 
 

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement of 
an acquiree’s share-based payment awards transactions with share-based payment awards transactions of the 
acquirer in accordance with the method in MFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and 

 
• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with MFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for 

Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard. 
 
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those 
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or liabilities are 
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, 
if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date. 

 
 The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete information 

about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date – and is subject to a maximum of one year from 
acquisition date. 

 
 The accounting policy for initial measurement of non-controlling interests is described above. 
 
 
 ASSOCIATES - An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor 

an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions 
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. 

 
 The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method 

of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for under MFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in 
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the 
net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments. Losses of an associate in excess of 
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the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s 
net investment in the associate) are not recognised, unless the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the associate. 

 
 Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is 
included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of the investment. Any 
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost 
of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 
 Where a Group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the 

Group’s interest in the relevant associate.  
 
 
 JOINT VENTURE - A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an 

economic activity that is subject to joint control, that is when the strategic financial and operating policy decisions relating 
to the activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 

 
 Where a Group entity undertakes its activities under joint venture arrangements directly, the Group’s share of jointly 

controlled assets and any liabilities incurred jointly with other venturers are recognised in the financial statements of the 
relevant entity and classified according to their nature. Liabilities and expenses incurred directly in respect of interests in 
jointly controlled assets are accounted for on an accrual basis. Income from the sale or use of the Group’s share of the 
output of jointly controlled assets, and its share of joint venture expenses, are recognised when it is probable that the 
economic benefits associated with the transactions will flow to/from the Group and their amount can be measured 
reliably. 

 
 Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer has an interest are 

referred to as jointly controlled entities. The Group reports its interests in jointly controlled entities using proportionate 
consolidation, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for under MFRS 5 
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. The Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses of jointly controlled entities are combined with the equivalent items in the consolidated financial statements on a 
line-by-line basis. 

 
 Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in accordance 

with the Group’s accounting policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary (see below). 
 
 Where the Group transacts with its jointly controlled entities, unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of 

the Group’s interest in the joint venture. 
 
             FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s statement of financial 

position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
 
 Effective interest method 
 
 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating 

interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial instrument, or 
where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments. 

 
 
 Financial assets 
 
 All financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is 

under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market 
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value. 

 
(a) Classification 

 
  Financial assets are classified into the following categories: “loans and receivables”, “held-to-maturity investments” 

and “available-for-sale” financial assets.  The classification depends on the nature and the purpose for which the 

Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018
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financial assets were acquired.  Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition. 

 
(i) Loans and receivables 

 
   Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets, except for those maturing later than 12 
months after the year end which are presented as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are presented 
as “trade and other receivables”, “loans and advances to customers” and “cash and cash equivalents” in the 
statement of financial position. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest method, except 
for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

 
 
 
 

(ii) Held-to-maturity financial assets 
 
   Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

and fixed maturities that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-
maturity financial assets are reported in the statement of financial position as “government and other 
securities”. 

 
(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets 

 
   Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not 

classified in any of the other categories. They are presented as non-current unless the investment matures 
or management intends to dispose of the assets within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 
Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value if the fair value can be reliably 
estimated using valuation techniques supported by observable market data, otherwise, those assets are 
carried at cost less impairment loss. Changes in the fair values of available-for-sale equity securities (i.e. 
non-monetary items) are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment 
revaluation reserve, together with the related currency translation differences. 

 
 

(b) Impairment 
 
  Financial assets, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.  Financial assets 

are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have been impacted. 

 
  For available-for-sale equity instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment 

below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment. 
 
  For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include: 
 
  • significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or 
 
  • default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or 
 
  • it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation. 
 
  For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 

individually are, in addition assessed for impairment on a collective basis.  Objective evidence of impairment for a 
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the 
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable changes in 
national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables. 

 
  For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s 

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate.  The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets 
with the exception of receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. 

Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018
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When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the 
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. 

  
When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. With the exception of available-for-
sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the investment 
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised.  

 
  In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are 

not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss is recognised in 
other comprehensive income.  

 
 
 
 
 

(c) Derecognition of financial asset 
 
  The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 

or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 
entity.  If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and 
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.  If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also 
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 

 
 
 Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
 

(a) Classification as debt or equity 
 

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. 

 
(i) Equity instruments 
 
 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 

deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs. 

 
(ii) Financial liabilities 
 
 Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an 
effective yield basis. 

 
 Interest-bearing borrowings are initially measured at their fair values and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the 
borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see below). 

 
 

(b) Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 

 The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or they expire. 

 
 

Notes to Financial Statements
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 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. 

 
 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost that is 

directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. Costs of a self-constructed asset include material costs, labour costs and other direct 
costs used in the construction of the asset.  Other costs such as start-up costs, administration and other general overhead 
costs, advertising and training costs are excluded and expensed as incurred.  Cost also includes borrowing costs (refer to 
Note on borrowing costs). 

 
 Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than assets under construction, over their estimated 

useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases: 
 

Land and building 20 – 67 years 
Machinery and equipment 5 – 10 years 
Renovation, furniture and office equipment 3 – 20 years 
Motor vehicles 5 – 8 years 
IT and computers 3 – 5 years 
Facilities and infrastructure system 10 – 20 years 
Rehabilitation cost 5 years 

 
 The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any 

changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The effects of any revision are recognised in the profit or loss 
when the changes arise. 

 
 Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use. 
 
 Assets-under-construction included in plant and equipment is not depreciated as these assets are not available for use. 

These are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Depreciation for the assets, on the same basis as other 
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. 

 
 The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 

difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
 
 GOODWILL - Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired (the 

acquisition date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity 
over net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. 

                  
             If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the 

consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain 
purchase gain. 

 
 Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill 

is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there 
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its 
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit 
and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An 
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. 

 
 On disposal of a subsidiary or the relevant cash generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 

determination of the profit or loss on disposal. 
 
 
 INTANGIBLE ASSETS ACQUIRED IN A BUSINESS COMBINATION EXCLUDING GOODWILL - Intangible assets acquired in a 

business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill, where they satisfy the definition of an 
intangible asset and their fair value can be measured reliably.  The cost of such intangible assets is their fair value at the 
acquisition date. 

 

Notes to Financial Statements
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 The amortisation periods for the intangible assets are as follows: 
 
 Software   5 years 
 License   10 years 
 
 Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets acquired 
separately. 

 
 
 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - Investment properties include those portions of office buildings that are held for long-term 

rental yields and/or for capital appreciation and land under operating leases that is held for long-term capital appreciation 
or for a presently in determinate use. 

 
 These investment properties are measured initially at its cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

investment property is measured at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property 
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise. 

 
 Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The cost of self-

constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the investment property to a working condition for their intended use and capitalised borrowing costs. 

 
 
 
 The Group’s investment properties also include properties taken over from loan defaulters by the bank subsidiary and held 

until the Group identifies a potential buyer. These properties are measured at the fair value at the time of initial 
recognition and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation.  On disposal of an investment property, 
the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
An investment property is derecognised on its disposal, or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the items is derecognised. 

 
 

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL - At the end of each reporting period, the 
Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also 
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest Group of cash-generating units 
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 

 
 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 

future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows 
have not been adjusted. 

 
 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 

carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 
 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to 

the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 
 
 INVENTORIES - Inventories consist of medicines and consumables which are purchased for the purpose of sale in the 

ordinary course of business. Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using 
the weighted average basis and comprises of cost of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing 
location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less all 

Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018



87

Fi
rs

t M
ya

nm
ar

 In
ve

st
m

en
t C

o.
, L

td
.  

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

7-
20

18

estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value shall be recognised as an expense in the period the write-down occurs. 

 
 
 PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 

events, and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. 

 
 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 

the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows. 

 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 
the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably. 

 
 
 
 
 
 BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 

assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

 
 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
 

 
REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is 
reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances. 

 
 Sales comprise the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and rendering of services in 

the ordinary course of the activities of the Group. Sales are presented net of commercial tax, rebates and discounts, and 
after eliminating sales within the Group.   

 
 The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue and its related cost can be reliably measured, when it is 

reasonably assured that the related receivables are collectable, and when the specific criteria for each of the Group’s 
activities are met as follows: 

 
 
 Rendering of services – Financial services and healthcare services 
 
 Revenue from rendering of services is recognised in the period in which the services are rendered. 
 
 
 Dividend income 
 
 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 
 
 
 Interest income 
 
 Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate 

applicable. 
 
 
 Rental income 
 
 The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described below. 
 
 

Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018



88

Fi
rs

t M
ya

nm
ar

 In
ve

st
m

en
t C

o.
, L

td
.  

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

7-
20

18

 LEASES - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 
            The Group as lessor 
 
 Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease unless 

another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use benefit derived from the leased asset is 
diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount 
of the leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income. 

 
 
 The Group as lessee 
 
 Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 

lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the 
leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which they are incurred. 

 
 In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. 

The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are 
consumed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable. 
 
 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 

statement profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable 
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for 
current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period. 

 
 Current tax is recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss. 
 
 
 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS – Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an 

expense when employees have rendered the services entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-
managed retirement benefit schemes, are dealt with as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s 
obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan. 

 
 
 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual financial statements of each Group entity are 

measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional 
currency). The consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in Myanmar Kyats, which is the presentation 
currency for the consolidated financial statements. 

 
 In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s reporting 

period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of the 
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 

 
  

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are included in 
profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value 
are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items 
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary 
items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 

 LEASES - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 
            The Group as lessor 
 
 Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease unless 

another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use benefit derived from the leased asset is 
diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount 
of the leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income. 

 
 
 The Group as lessee 
 
 Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 

lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the 
leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which they are incurred. 

 
 In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. 

The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are 
consumed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable. 
 
 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 

statement profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable 
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for 
current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period. 

 
 Current tax is recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss. 
 
 
 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS – Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an 

expense when employees have rendered the services entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-
managed retirement benefit schemes, are dealt with as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s 
obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan. 

 
 
 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual financial statements of each Group entity are 

measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional 
currency). The consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in Myanmar Kyats, which is the presentation 
currency for the consolidated financial statements. 

 
 In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s reporting 

period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of the 
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 

 
  

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are included in 
profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value 
are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items 
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary 
items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income. 
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 For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations 
(including comparatives) are expressed in Myanmar Kyats using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting 
period. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, 
unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions are used.  

 
 
 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash 

flows comprise cash on hand, cash at bank and demand deposits, bank overdrafts, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value. 

 
 
 EARNINGS PER SHARE - The Group presents basic earnings per share data for its ordinary shares ("EPS").  
 
 Basic EPS is calculated by dividing by profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held. 
 
  
 

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY  
 
 In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management are required to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that 
are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 
 
 
 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

 
(i) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies 
 
 Management are of the opinion that any instances of application of judgements are not expected to have a 

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, except as described below.  
 
 
(ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
 The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below. 

 
 

a) Allowance for doubtful debts 
 
  The policy for allowance for doubtful receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and on 

management’s judgement. A considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate 
realisation of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness, the past collection history and ongoing 
dealings. If the financial conditions of the customer were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of its ability 
to make payments, additional allowance may be required. 

 
  The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 6. 
 
 

b) Uncertain tax positions 
 
  The Group is subject to income taxes in Myanmar. In determining income tax liabilities, management is 

required to estimate the amount of capital allowances and the deductibility of certain expenses (“uncertain tax 
positions”). 

 
  There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the 

Notes to Financial Statements
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 For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations 
(including comparatives) are expressed in Myanmar Kyats using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting 
period. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, 
unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions are used.  

 
 
 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash 

flows comprise cash on hand, cash at bank and demand deposits, bank overdrafts, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value. 

 
 
 EARNINGS PER SHARE - The Group presents basic earnings per share data for its ordinary shares ("EPS").  
 
 Basic EPS is calculated by dividing by profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held. 
 
  
 

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY  
 
 In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management are required to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that 
are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 
 
 
 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

 
(i) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies 
 
 Management are of the opinion that any instances of application of judgements are not expected to have a 

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, except as described below.  
 
 
(ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
 The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below. 

 
 

a) Allowance for doubtful debts 
 
  The policy for allowance for doubtful receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and on 

management’s judgement. A considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate 
realisation of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness, the past collection history and ongoing 
dealings. If the financial conditions of the customer were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of its ability 
to make payments, additional allowance may be required. 

 
  The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 6. 
 
 

b) Uncertain tax positions 
 
  The Group is subject to income taxes in Myanmar. In determining income tax liabilities, management is 

required to estimate the amount of capital allowances and the deductibility of certain expenses (“uncertain tax 
positions”). 

 
  There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the 

Notes to Financial Statements
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ordinary course of business. The Group recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of 
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, the Group makes adjustment for such differences in the income tax of the 
period in which such determination is made. 

 
 

c)  Impairment of goodwill 
 
  Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating 

units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the group to estimate the 
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to 
calculate present value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the reporting period was MMK 52,731 
million (2017 : MMK 52,730 million).  

 
  No impairment of goodwill is recognised as at March 31, 2018 and 2017. 

 
 

d)  Impairment of loans and advances, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity investments 
 
  Management reviews its loans and advances, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity investments for objective 

evidence of impairment at each reporting period. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, the probability 
that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and default or significant delay in payments are considered objective 
evidence that a receivable is impaired. In making this determination, management makes judgments as to 
whether there is observable data indicating that there has been a significant change in the payment ability of 
the debtor, or whether there have been significant adverse changes in the market, economic or legal 
environment where the debtor maintains operations. In the case of equity investments classified as available-
for-sale, objective evidence of impairment includes significant financial difficulty of the issuer and information 
about significant adverse changes that have occurred in the technological, market, economic or legal 
environment where the issuer maintains operations, indicating that the cost of the investment in the equity 
instrument may not be recoverable. 

 
   
 

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, management makes judgements as to whether an impairment 
loss should be recorded in profit or loss. In making this determination, management has used estimates based 
on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The methodology and 
assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to 
reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 

 
  The carrying amounts of loans and advances, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity investments as at March 

31, 2018 are disclosed in Note 7, 10 and 13 respectively.  
 
  Management has assessed that there is no objective evidence or indication that the carrying amount of the 

Group’s loans and advances, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale investments are not recoverable as at the 
end of the financial reporting period, and accordingly impairment is not required. The credit risk assessment on 
the Group’s loans and advances is also disclosed in Note 32 (b). 

11 14
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  4 SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP 
 
 Details of subsidiaries are as follows: 
 

Name of subsidiaries 

Place of 
incorporation and 

operation Principal activities 

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting power 

held  
   2018 2017 
     
Yoma Bank Ltd. 1 Myanmar Financial services 51.00% 51.00% 
Pun Hlaing International     
   Hospital Ltd. 2 Myanmar Investment holding 60.00% 60.00% 
Yoma Siloam Hospital Pun      
   Hlaing Ltd. 2 Myanmar Healthcare services 60.00% 60.00% 
FMI Industrial Investment      
   Co., Ltd. 3, # Myanmar Investment holding 100.00% - 
Yoma Thitsar Commercial      
   Co., Ltd. * Myanmar Financial services - 100.00% 

 
* During the financial year 2017-2018, the liquidation process of Yoma Thitsar Commercial Co., Ltd. was completed 

and tax authorities had provided a clearance on all related tax matters. 
# During the year, the Company acquired the subsidiary from a related party.  

 
(1) Audited by UTW (Myanmar) Limited, Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar. 
(2) Audited by Myanmar Vigour & Associates Limited, Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar. 
(3) Audited by Zaw Lwin & Associates Certified Public Accountants & Auditors, Myanmar. 

 
 
5 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
   
Cash at bank and in hand 169,434 301,150 
Cash in hand, by the bank subsidiary 82,334,344 96,912,136 
Cash and placements with central   
   bank and others bank, by the bank subsidiary 204,452,168 106,030,938 
 286,955,946 203,244,224 

 
 

Notes to Financial Statements
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Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018

6 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

 Group  
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
Trade receivables   
   External parties 21,767,877 10,801,971 
   Related companies (Note 33) - 8,742 
 21,767,877 10,810,713 
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (13,560) - 
Trade receivables, net 21,754,317 10,810,713 
   
Non-trade receivables   
   Related companies (Note 33) 5,870,366 - 
   Associates (Note 12) 11,862,743 28,763,556 
 17,733,109 28,763,556 
   
Other receivables 7,374,050 608,323 
Deposits 701,674 675,179 
 47,563,150 40,857,771 

 
The average credit period from rendering of services is 30 days (2017 : 30 days). No interest is charged on the outstanding 
balance. 
 
The table below is an analysis of trade receivables as the end of the reporting period: 
 
 Group  
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 

   
Neither past due nor impaired 21,551,820 10,666,933 
Past due but not impaired (i) 202,497 143,780 
 21,754,317 10,810,713 
   
(i) Aging of receivables that are past due but not impaired   
   

Past due 0 to 3 months 77,535 43,910 
Past due 3 to 6 months 63,036 86,968 
Past due over 6 months 61,926 12,902 

 202,497 143,780 
   
Movement in the allowance of doubtful debts   
 Group  
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 

   
Balance at beginning of year - - 
Increase in allowance recognised in profit or loss 13,560 - 
Balance at end of year 13,560 - 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13
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7 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS, BY THE BANK SUBSIDIARY 
 

 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
   
Loans and advances 1,338,119,330 1,077,387,926 
Trade financing 37,918,599 21,995,094 
 1,376,037,929 1,099,383,020 
Less: Specific allowance (9,688,435) (446,952) 
 1,366,349,494 1,098,936,068 
 
A reconciliation of the specific allowance for impairment losses for the loans and advances, is as follows: 
 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 

   
Balances at beginning of year 446,952 187,709 
Charge for the year 2,647,582 259,243 
Total allowance for impairment losses by collectability 3,094,534 446,952 
Transferred from LIFT-AFP (1) 6,593,901 - 
Balances at end of year 9,688,435 446,952 
   
 

(1) In 2018, the Bank and the Fund has agreed to transfer AFP fund amounting to MMK 6,593,901,000 as part of the 
specific provision. 

 
The table below is an analysis of loans and advances as the end of the reporting period: 
 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
   
Neither past due nor impaired 1,313,783,198 1,086,106,857 
Past due but not impaired (i)  52,566,296 12,829,211 
 1,366,349,494 1,098,936,068 
   

(i) Aging of receivables that are past due but not impaired   
   

Past due 0 to 3 months 17,803,694 8,211,870 
Past due 3 to 6 months 15,075,314 931,655 
Past due over 6 months 19,687,288 3,685,686 

 52,566,296 12,829,211 
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8 INVENTORIES 

 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
   
Medical supplies 1,019,575 660,171 

 
 
 In the current year, the cost of inventories recognised as an expense amounts to MMK 5,899,426,000 (2017 : MMK 

4,478,181,000), of which MMK 283,993 (2017 : MMK 153,938) pertains to write-off of inventories. 
 
 
9 ADVANCES AND PREPAYMENTS 

 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
  (Restated) 
   
Advance to suppliers and contractors 769,966 640,293 
Advance to employees 31,843 42,367 
Advance corporate income tax payment 3,253,757 3,036,750 
Prepayments 26,938,093 18,946,413 
Other assets 1,616,908 492,559 
 32,610,567 23,158,382 

 
 
 Prepayments mainly consists of prepaid office rental expenses. 
 
 
10 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 
 The Group’s other non-current assets consist of prepayments made to new projects undertaken by the Group. 

Notes to Financial Statements
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11 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 
 

Details of the Group’s available-for-sale investments as at March 31, 2018 are as follows: 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
  (Restated) 
   
Quoted equity shares, at fair value 11,588,018 2,815,962 
Unquoted equity shares, at fair value 39,860,466 18,412,175 
Total available-for-sale investments 51,448,484 21,228,137 

 
The investments above include investments in quoted equity securities that offer the Group the opportunity for return 
through dividend income and fair value gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate. The fair values of these 
securities are based on the quoted closing market prices on the last market day of the financial year. 
 
The investments in unquoted equity investments primarily represent investments in companies that are in the early 
stages of development and the recoverability of these investments is uncertain and dependent on the outcome of these 
activities, which cannot presently be determined. 
 

  Group 
 

Name of companies Principal activities 
Equity 

holding 
Fair 

value 
Equity 

holding  
Fair 

value 
  2018 MMK’000 2017 MMK’000 
      
Myanmar Parkson Co., Ltd. Investment holding 10.00% 258,941 10.00% 258,941 
FMI Air Ltd. Airline services 10.00% 6,274,099 10.00% 5,207,733 
Myanmar Thilawa SEZ       
   Holdings Public Ltd. Investment holding 1.65% 1,833,983 1.80% 2,815,962 
Peninsula Yangon Holdings       
   Pte Ltd. Real estate developer 6.00% 4,517,414 6.00% 1,114,989 
Digital Money Myanmar       
   Ltd.* Mobile payments 10.00% 7,588,824 44.00% 11,830,512 
Memories Group Ltd.** Tourism 11.90% 9,754,035 - - 
Meeyahta Development       
   Ltd.*** Real estate developer 12.00% 21,221,188 - - 
   51,448,484  21,228,137 
      

* On March 5, 2018, the Group entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with Yoma Strategic 
Investments Ltd. in relation to the sale of its 34% equity stake in Digital Money Myanmar Ltd. for a consideration of 
US$ 19.4 million (equivalent to MMK 25,802 million). 

** As announced on December 27, 2017, the Company holds an effective 11.9% equity stake in Memories Group Ltd. 
pursuant to the completion of restructuring of a related company’s tourism businesses and the shares are listed 
and quoted on the Catalist Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited as at January 5, 2018. 

*** As at March 31, 2018, the Company holds 12% equity interest in Meeyahta Development Ltd. at the finalisation of 
the restructuring of Yoma Central project. 
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 During the year, the Group disposed of the below available-for-sale investments. 
 

 
Name of companies 

Date of disposal Carrying 
value 

Disposal  
price 

Allowable 
expenses  

Gain/ 
(Loss) 

  MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 
      
Myanmar Thilawa SEZ       
   Holdings Public Ltd. March 2018 177,600 164,200 1,197 (14,597) 
Digital Money       
   Myanmar Ltd.* March 2018 13,928,482 25,802,000 - 11,873,518 
  14,106,082 25,966,200 1,197 11,858,921 

 
 
12 INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE 
 
 The Group has the following joint venture: 

 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
  (Restated) 
Unquoted equity shares at cost:   
   Beginning of the year 2,775,833 2,760,344 
   Additional investment 590,040 26,099 
   Share of post-acquisition results (6,972) (10,610) 
   At end of the year 3,358,901 2,775,833 

 
 
 The details of the interest in joint venture is as follows: 
 

Name of joint venture 

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation Principal activities 

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting power 

held 
   2018 2017 
     
LSC-FMI Co., Ltd (1) Myanmar Property development 50.00% 50.00% 

 
(1) Audited by Daw Me Me Than Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar. 

 
  Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture 

recognised in the consolidated financial statements: 
 

 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
  (Restated) 
   
Net assets of the joint venture 6,997,812 6,759,491 
   
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interests  3,498,906 3,379,746 
Other adjustments (140,005) (603,913) 
Carrying amount of the Group’s shareholding interest 3,358,901 2,775,833 

 

Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018



97

Fi
rs

t M
ya

nm
ar

 In
ve

st
m

en
t C

o.
, L

td
.  

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

7-
20

18

13 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 
 

 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
  (Restated) 
   
Cost of investment in associates:   
   Beginning of the year 61,962,481 54,086,867 
   Additional investment 8,812,360 6,716,586 
   Increase in asset capitalisation - 2,610,759 
   Reclassified to other receivables - (4,400,009) 
   Repayment of advances by associates (14,454,215) (997,139) 
   Investment written off - (140,840) 
   Share of post-acquisition results 11,772,477 7,686,257 
   Dividends received (9,349,500) (3,600,000) 
   At end of the year 58,743,603 61,962,481 

 
 
 Details of the Group’s associates are as follows: 
 

Name of companies 

Place of 
incorporation and 

operation Principal activities 

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting power 

held 
   2018 2017 
FMI Garden Development   Property    
   Ltd. 2 Myanmar development 47.50% 47.50% 
FMIDecaux Co., Ltd 1, # Myanmar Advertising 40.00% - 
Thanlyin Estate   Property    
   Development Ltd. 3 Myanmar development 30.00% 30.00% 
Pun Hlaing Links Services   Golf course    
   Co., Ltd 4 Myanmar development 30.00% 30.00% 
Chindwin Holdings Pte Ltd 3 Singapore/ 

Myanmar 
 
Investment holding 

 
30.00% 

 
30.00% 

Myanmar Agri-Tech Ltd. 5 Myanmar Agricultural activities 30.00% 30.00% 
Meeyahta International   Property    
   Hotel Ltd. 5 Myanmar development 20.00% 20.00% 

 
1 Audited by UTW (Myanmar) Limited, Myanmar. 
2 Audited by U Tun Ne Win Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar. 
3 Audited by Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation, Singapore. 
4 Audited by Royal Treasure Audit Firm, Myanmar. 
5 Audited by Excellent Choice Professional Company Limited, Myanmar. 
# The associate was incorporated on December 30, 2017. 
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 Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the associates 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements: 

 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
Asset and liabilities   
   
Total assets 776,846,749 316,127,679 
Total liabilities  (262,681,578) (235,676,497) 
Net assets 514,165,171 80,451,182 
   
Group’s share of associates’ net assets 58,743,603 61,962,481 
   
   
Revenue 23,562,545 29,886,339 
   
Profit for the year 39,747,656 27,990,956 

   
Group’s share of associates’ profit for the year 11,772,477 7,686,257 

 
 
14 GOVERNMENT AND OTHER SECURITIES, BY THE BANK SUBSIDIARY 
 

 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
   
Myanmar treasury bonds (1) 189,692,617 161,000,000 
Myanmar treasury bills (1) 54,720,074 46,126,230 
Money market (deposit (1) auction) 15,000,000 10,000,000 
Digital Money Myanmar (2) 3,794,412 1,344,376 
Myanmar Payment Union (3) 200,000 200,000 
Myanmar ICT Park (3) 56,500 56,500 
SWIFT (3) 5,962 5,283 
Myanmar Credit Bureau (3) 1,040 1,040 
 263,470,605 218,733,429 
   

 
(1) Yoma Bank’s investments in the Central Bank of Myanmar’s 5- year treasury bonds, 3- year treasury bills and 

short term deposit auctions. Current interest rates for Myanmar treasury bonds are 9.5% p.a for 5-year bonds 
and 9.0% p.a for 3-year bonds. 

(2) Yoma Bank currently owns a 5% interest in Digital Money Myanmar.  
(3) Yoma Bank’s other investments are as follows: 

- MMK 200 million MPU card holders deposit fees. 
- Pre-investment expenses in Myanmar ICT Park, SWIFT and Bank Association 
  membership fees for the Myanmar Credit Bureau. 

  

Notes to Financial Statements
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
 Group  
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
  (Restated) 
At cost   
   
Cost   
At beginning and end of the year - 1,513,551 
   
Accumulated depreciation   
Beginning of the year - 96,354 
Depreciation - 31,250 
At end of the year - 127,604 
   
Net book value - 1,385,947 
   
At fair value   
   
Balance at beginning of year 1,385,947 - 
Depreciation (31,250) - 
Gain from fair value adjustment in profit and loss 1,413,004 - 
Balance at end of year 2,767,701 - 

 
Included in investment properties is an office and retail location which is leased to Convenience Prosperity Co., Ltd., an 
entity related by a common controlling shareholder, and land and buildings held for investment. 

 
The property rental income for the Group’s office and retail location which are leased out under operating leases 
amounted to MMK 57,697,000 (2017: MMK 54,000,000). 
 
During the year, the Group changed its accounting policy for investment properties from the cost model to fair value 
model as the change will provide reliable and more relevant information about the effects of transactions, other events or 
conditions on the Group’s financial position, financial performance or cash flows. 
 
The fair values of the Group’s investment property at March 31, 2018 have been determined on the basis of fair value 
given by current prices in an active market for similar property in the same location and condition and subject to similar 
leases and other contracts. 

 
At March 31, 2018, the details of the Group’s investment properties are as follows: 

 

Location 
Description/ 
existing use Tenure 

   

Plot No.1159, Block No.7 & 8, Hlaing Thayar Townshhip, Yangon Region 
 

Office and retail 
location 5 years 

Field No. 404 / A & B, West Ywar Thit Village, Pyay Township , Pyay District, Bago 
Region Land and building Not applicable 
Field No. 1585,Ywar Thar Village, Naung Oo Township, Naung Oo District, 
Mandalay Region 

 
Land (9 acres) 

 
 

Not applicable 
 

Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018
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17 GOODWILL 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
   
Cost:   
   At April 1, 2016 and March 31, 2017 52,730,352 52,730,352 
   Arising from acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 35) 735 - 
   At March 31, 2018 52,731,087 52,730,352 

 
 Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition to the cash-generating units (“CGU”) that are 

expected to benefit from that business combination.  
 
 Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows: 
  

 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
   
Yoma Bank Ltd. 51,490,489 51,490,489 
Yoma Siloam Hospital Pun Hlaing Ltd. 1,239,863 1,239,863 
FMI Industrial Investment Co., Ltd. 735 - 
 52,731,087 52,730,352 

 
 The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be 

impaired.  
 
 
18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

  
Computer 
software Licenses Total 

  MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 
Cost     
   At April 1, 2016  1,410,565 1,386,368 2,796,933 
   Additions  848,548 572,505 1,421,053 
   At March 31, 2017  2,259,113 1,958,873 4,217,986 
   Additions  1,212,052 297,425 1,509,477 
   At March 31, 2018  3,471,165 2,256,298 5,727,463 
     
Accumulated amortisation     
   At April 1, 2016  - - - 
   Amortisation   374,469 115,120 489,589 
   At March 31, 2017  374,469 115,120 489,589 
   Amortisation   558,850 200,861 759,711 
   At March 31, 2018  933,319 315,981 1,249,300 
     
Net book value     
   At March 31, 2017  1,884,644 1,843,753 3,728,397 
     
   At March 31, 2018  2,537,846 1,940,317 4,478,163 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    

Notes to Financial Statements
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Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018

19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
  Group  
   2018 2017 
   MMK’000 MMK’000 

Current     
Trade payables     
   External parties   67,695,771 34,851,148 
     
Non-trade payables     
   External parties   484,384 441,677 
   Related companies (Note 33) 21,950,132 17,896,440 
   Associates (Note 12)   18,705,637 2,864,400 
   41,140,153 21,202,517 
     
Accrued operating expenses   1,953,453 644,634 
Refundable deposits   179,808 151,939 
Rental income received in advance   144,843 162,638 
Interest income received in advance   11,513,153 10,203,053 
Other payables   1,787,679 - 
   124,414,860 67,215,929 
     
Non-current     
Non-trade payables     
   Related companies (Note 33) - 15,856 
     

 
20 BORROWINGS 

 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
   
Bank borrowings 43,319,063 44,101,625 
Less: Amount due for settlement within   
        12 months (shown under current liabilities) (10,997,900) (7,491,000) 
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 32,321,163 36,610,625 

 
 The Group has three principal bank borrowings: 

a) a loan of US$ 23.2 million (equivalent to MMK 30.9 billion) (2017 : equivalent to MMK 31.8 billion). The loan is 
secured by a guarantee and pledge of the Company’s shares by U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun. The Company provided a 
back-to-back guarantee to U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun in relation to this agreement. The loan carries an interest at an 
aggregate of 6% (2017 : 6%) and the London Interbank Offered Rate per annum. The loan is repayable in quarterly 
instalments beginning from June 2018 to November 2023.  

b) a convertible USD loan equivalent to MMK 4.9 billion. The bank subsidiary loan was advanced on September 16, 
2014 by the International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) and is due for repayment on April 27, 2019. The bank loan 
carried a fixed interest rate of 8% (2017 : 8%) per annum. Under the specified terms and conditions outlined in the 
loan agreement, IFC may convert the loan to equity, subject to the governing laws of Myanmar.  

c) a loan of MMK 7.5 billion raised on June 9, 2017. The loan carries an interest of 13% per annum, repayable within 1 
year. 
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21 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 
 Group 

 Share capital  Share premium 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 
  

2018 2017 
 Number of ordinary shares MMK’000 MMK’000  MMK’000 MMK’000 

        
At the beginning of year 23,480,013 23,480,013 23,480,013 23,480,013  70,282,041 70,282,041 
Bonus shares issued 2,345,063 - 2,345,063 -  (2,345,063) - 
At the end of year 25,825,076 23,480,013 25,825,076 23,480,013  67,936,978 70,282,041 
        
Share premium represents the excess amount of capital injection received by the Group over the cost of the ordinary 
shares. 
 
 

22 DIVIDENDS 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
Ordinary dividends paid:   
   Cash dividends of MMK 100 (2017 : MMK 135) per share   
   paid with respect to prior financial year 2,348,001 3,169,802 

 
 
23 RESERVES 

 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
  (Restated) 
Reserves   
Capital reserve (1)   
   At the beginning of year 19,628,186 12,832,314 
   Add: Share of capital reserve for the year 9,807,493 6,795,872 
   At the end of year 29,435,679 19,628,186 
Investment revaluation reserve (2)   
   At the beginning of year 2,129,142 - 
   Add: Revaluation gain 1,373,311 2,129,142 
   At the end of year 3,502,453 2,129,142 
Total reserves 32,938,132 21,757,328 

 
 

(1) In compliance with Section 35(a) of the Financial Institutions of Myanmar Law, 25% of the net profit after tax 
of the bank subsidiary will be set aside as capital reserve at the end of the reporting period and is not 
distributable as cash dividends.  

(2) Investment revaluation reserve represents revaluation of available-for sale investments and government and 
other securities, by the bank subsidiary to market value as at the end of the reporting period.  

  
 
 

 

Notes to Financial Statements
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24 REVENUE 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
   
Rendering of services:   
   Financial services 186,586,355 146,379,770 
   Healthcare services 18,801,784 14,670,459 
   Rental income 57,697 54,000 
Dividend income 174,090 245,650 
 205,619,926 161,349,879 
   
 

25 ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 Group  
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 

   
Employee benefit expenses 31,637,669 26,367,105 
Director’s remuneration 377,709 243,653 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6,798,664 4,214,154 
Amortisation of intangible assets 759,711 489,589 
Depreciation of investment property 31,250 31,250 
Renovation and maintenance expenses 1,243,454 1,154,892 
Office rental expenses 5,659,053 3,745,952 
Professional fees 5,851,574 2,110,309 
Marketing and promotion 1,154,657 721,100 
Annual general meeting expenses 92,586 74,565 
Travelling and related costs 1,525,869 1,065,176 
Office supplies 1,836,063 780,273 
IT and communication expenses 2,072,913 668,921 
Specific provision on non-performing loan 2,647,582 - 
Utilities  1,342,402 1,202,695 
Others 3,388,497 2,633,574 
 66,419,653 45,503,208 
 
 

26 FINANCE EXPENSES 
 Group  
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 

   
Interest expenses 3,455,434 1,814,208 
Bank charges 36,977 13,493 
 3,492,411 1,827,701 
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27 OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES 
 Group  
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
  (Restated) 

   
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments 11,858,921 5,286,134 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 17,774 80,083 
Gain (Loss) on foreign currency exchange, net 1,394,343 (899,730) 
Write off unsuccessful business development (18,659) (1,060,938) 
Write off of investment in subsidiaries 255 - 
Fair value gain on investment properties 1,413,004 - 
Property, plant and equipment written off (145,668) - 
Capital gains tax (1,179,773) (536,751) 
Increase in asset capitalisation - 2,610,759 
 13,340,197 5,479,557 

 
28 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
 

 Group  
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
  (Restated) 
   
Current year tax expense 3,145,142 2,977,672 
   

 
Domestic income tax is calculated at 25% (2017 : 25%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year.  

 
 The total charge for the year can be reconciled to accounting profit as follows: 
 

 Group  
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
   
Profit before tax 27,922,595 17,878,198 
   
Tax at Myanmar’s statutory income tax rate of 25% 6,980,649 4,469,550 
Effect of income not taxable (3,835,507) (1,491,878) 
 3,145,142 2,977,672 
   

 

Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018



106

Fi
rs

t M
ya

nm
ar

 In
ve

st
m

en
t C

o.
, L

td
.  

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

7-
20

18

29 EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the ordinary owners of the Company is based on the 
following data: 
 
 Group  
 2018 2017 
Earnings   
Net profit, including non-operating income,    
   attributable to equity holders of the Company (MMK’000) 18,617,449 12,154,203 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding   
   for basic earnings per share (’000) 24,946 23,480 
Basic earnings per share (MMK per share) 746 518 

 
 
30 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 
 

At the end of the financial year, the Group have the following commitments: 
 
The Group as lessee 
 
Payments recognised as an expense during the year: 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
   
Minimum lease payments under operating leases 5,659,053 3,745,952 
 
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has no significant operating lease commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases as it has been prepaid as disclosed in Note 9. Operating lease payments represents rentals payable by 
the Group for certain of its office premises. Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for an average term of 5 years. 
 
The Group as lessor 
 
The Group leases commercial and investment properties under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. These 
leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The payment due are computed without the escalation 
clauses and renewal rights as the quantum has not been determined. Property rental income earned during the year was 
MMK 57,697,000 (2017 : MMK 54,000,000). 
 
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease 
payments: 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
   
 In the second to fifth years inclusive 146,144 146,144 
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31 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
 The Group provided a back-to-back guarantee to secure a long-term bank loan on March 30, 2016. No contingent 

liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position date of the Group as it is considered unlikely that there 
will be a significant outflow of the Group’s resources as a result of the arrangement entered into by the Group and the 
respective counter party. 

 
 The Group has provisioned tax expenses based on best efforts estimates, which may differ from actual tax assessments 

levied by the Myanmar tax authority. As a result, the Group may incur additional tax liabilities upon final assessment 
from tax authorities. Although commercial tax is imposed to customers, there may be liabilities on commercial tax from 
the real estate sector. 

 
 
32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS and CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

(a) Categories of financial instruments 
 
 The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period: 
 

  2018 2017 
  MMK’000 MMK’000 
   (Restated) 
    
Financial assets    
Loans and receivables:    
   Cash and cash equivalents  286,955,946 203,244,224 
   Trade and other receivables  47,563,150 40,857,771 
   Loans and advances to customer, by the bank subsidiary 1,366,349,494 1,098,936,068 
   Other non-current assets  14,267,296 6,273,449 
Held-to-maturity investments:    
   Government and other securities, by the bank subsidiary 263,470,605 218,733,429 
Available-for-sale investments 51,448,484 21,228,137 
  2,030,054,975 1,589,273,078 
    
    
Financial liabilities    
At amortised cost:    
   Trade and other payables  124,414,860 67,231,785 
   Deposits and balances from customers, by the 
     bank subsidiary 1,811,540,196 1,434,249,508 
   Fund restricted for LIFT-AFP, by the bank subsidiary 2,321,480 4,623,640 
   Borrowings  43,319,063 44,101,625 
  1,981,595,599 1,550,206,558 
    

 
(b) Financial risk management policies and objectives 

 
 The Group’s activities expose it to market risk (including interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and equity price risk), 

credit risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and legal and compliance risk. The Group’s overall risk management strategy 
seeks to minimize adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial markets on the Group’s financial performance. 
The Group has adopted the policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarized below. 

 
 The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.  
 
 There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it managed and 

measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below: 
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(a) Market risk 
 

(i) Interest rate risk management 
 
  Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. As the Group has interest-bearing 
financial assets and financial liabilities, the Group’s income and expense are dependent of changes in 
market interest rates. 

 
  The Group’s interest-bearing financial assets pertain to short-term fixed deposits placed with reputable 

financial institutions in Myanmar, held-to-maturity Myanmar government and other securities and 
loans and advances to customers, which all carry fixed interest rates. Management has assessed that 
any change in the interest rate would not have significant impact to the Group’s interest income due to 
the short-term maturity of fixed deposits and loans and advances to customers and the three to five-
year term of Myanmar government securities. 

 
  The Group’s interest-bearing financial liabilities pertain to deposits from customers and certain 

borrowings which carry fixed interest rates and variable interest rates respectively. Management has 
assessed that any change in the interest rate would not have a significant impact on the Group’s 
interest expenses as the Group aims to obtain the most favourable interest rates available in the 
market, except on the variable interest rate borrowings as described below. 

 
  Interest rate sensitivity 
 

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative financial liability instruments at the end of the reporting period and the stipulated change 
taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period in 
the case of instruments that have floating rates. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when 
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. 
 
If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the 
Group’s profit for the year ended March 31, 2018 would decrease/increase by MMK 154,500,000 (2017 : 
MMK 159,000,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable 
interest rate borrowings. 

 
(ii) Foreign exchange risk management 

 
  The Group operates mainly in Myanmar. Entities in the Group regularly transact in various foreign 

currencies other than their respective functional currencies (“foreign currencies”). Currency risk arises 
in the Group when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies such as Euro (“EUR”), Singapore 
Dollar (“SGD”), and United States Dollar (“USD”). 

 
                      These exposures are managed primarily by using natural hedges that arise from offsetting assets and 

liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies.  
 
  At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of significant monetary assets and monetary 

liabilities denominated in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency are as follows: 
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 Group 
 EUR SGD USD 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 
March 31, 2018    
    
Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 906,226 410,142 71,365,360 
Trade and other receivables - - 38,330 
Loans and advances to customers, by the  
   bank subsidiary - - 23,022,445 
Government and other securities, by the  
   bank subsidiary 5,962 - - 
 912,188 410,142 94,426,135 

Financial liabilities    
Trade and other payables 899,903 401,272 37,906,979 
Deposits and balances from customers, by the 
   bank subsidiary 12,285 8,870 56,717,230 
Borrowings - - 30,964,063 
 912,188 410,142 125,588,272 

 
 
 
 
 

   
    
March 31, 2017    
    
Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 253,533 40,824 18,017,613 
Trade and other receivables 134,915 - 17,065,623 
Government and other securities, by the  
   bank subsidiary 5,283 - - 
 393,731 40,824 35,083,236 

Financial liabilities    
Trade and other payables 382,359 12,724 6,874,698 
Deposits and balances from customers, by the 
   bank subsidiary 11,372 28,100 20,897,993 
Borrowings - - 39,246,625 
 393,731 40,824 67,019,316 
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(ii) Foreign exchange risk management (cont’d) 

 
Foreign currency sensitivity 

 
The following analysis details the sensitivity to a 10% increase/decrease in the relevant foreign 
currencies against the functional currency of the Group. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting 
foreign currency risk exposures internally to key management personnel and represents management’s 
assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates, which is the change in foreign exchange 
rate that management deems reasonably possible which will affect outstanding foreign currency 
denominated monetary items at period end. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign 
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change 
in foreign currency rates. 

 
If the relevant foreign currency were to strengthen by 10% against the functional currency of the Group, 
profit for the year will increase (decrease) by: 
 

 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 

   
USD impact (3,116,214) (3,193,608) 

 
If the relevant foreign currency were to weaken by 10% against the functional currency, there will be 
equal but opposite impact on profit for the year. 
 
 

(iii) Equity price risk management 
 

The Group is exposed to equity risks arising from equity instruments classified as available-for-sale. 
Available-for-sale equity instruments are held for strategic rather than trading purposes. The group 
does not actively trade available-for-sale investments. 

 
Further details of these equity investments can be found in Notes 10 to the financial statements. 

 
          Equity price sensitivity 
 

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the 
end of the reporting period. 

 
In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, if the inputs to the valuation model had been 10% 
higher/lower while all other variable were held constant: 

 
•   The Group’s net profit for the year ended March 31, 2018 would have been unaffected as the equity 

investment are classified as available-for-sale and no investments were disposed of or impaired; 
and 

•   The Group’s investment revaluation reserve would increase/decrease by MMK 1,158,802,000 (2017 : 
increase/decrease by MMK 281,596,000)  

 
The Group’s sensitivity to equity prices has not changed significantly from the prior year. 
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(b) Credit risk management 
 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a 
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s major classes of financial assets are loans and advances from 
customers held by the bank subsidiary, Myanmar government securities held by the bank subsidiary, bank 
deposits and trade receivables. Cash and cash equivalents are placed with reputable financial institutions. 
 
For trade receivables, the Group adopts the policy of dealing only with customers with appropriate credit 
histories, and obtaining sufficient security where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. For other financial 
assets, the Group adopts the policy of dealing only with credit-worthy counterparts. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk for each class of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial 
instruments presented on the balance sheet. 
 
Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the 
financial condition of trade receivables. The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any 
single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The Group defines 
counterparties as having similar characteristics if they are related entities. 
 
The credit risk for trade receivables based on the information provided to management is as follows: 
 
 

 Group  
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 

   
   By type of customers:   

                        External parties 21,754,317 10,801,971 
                        Related companies (Note 33) - 8,742 

 21,754,317 10,810,713 
   

Further details of credit risks on trade receivables are disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements. 
 
For loans and advances from customers held by the bank subsidiary, the Board of Directors of the bank 
approves major policies and limits that govern credit risk. The Board of Directors delegates authority to the 
Credit Risk Management Committee for overseeing the credit risk of the bank. The bank structures the levels 
of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk acceptable in relation to one borrower, 
groups of borrowers and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a regular basis and are subject to 
annual or more frequent review. The maximum exposure to credit risk of loans and advances from 
customers held by the bank on the balance sheet is limited to the carrying amount on the balance sheet, 
without taking into account the fair value of any collateral. 
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The credit risk for loans and advances by the bank entity based on the information provided to management 
is as follows: 

 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 

   
 By type of customers:   
 Other companies 1,078,571,701 693,155,565 
 Individuals 286,896,461 405,780,503 
 Related companies (Note 33) 881,332 - 

 1,366,349,494 1,098,936,068 
   
(c)Liquidity risk management 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities. The Group manages liquidity risks by monitoring its liquidity position through periodic preparation 
of cash flow and cash balance forecasts and periodic evaluation of the ability of the Group to meet its 
financial obligations, measured by a gearing ratio. The Group maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, 
and internally generated cash flows to finance their activities. 
 
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had net current liabilities of MMK 218,269,659,000 (2017 : MMK 
150,237,254,000). The Directors are satisfied that there is no going concern issue as the Group can easily 
convert government and other securities held by the bank subsidiary of MMK 261,799,602,000 (2017 : MMK 
218,733,429,000) into cash and cash equivalents with no significant changes in fair value.  
 

Liquidity risk analyses 
 
Non-derivative financial liabilities 
 
The table below analyses the non-derivative financial liabilities of the Group in their relevant maturity 
groupings based on the length of remaining period from the reporting date to the contracted maturity date. 
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contracted undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 
months are presented at their carrying amounts as the impact of discounting is not significant.  
 
 

 
  Less than 1 

year 
Between 2 

and 5 years 
More than 

5 years Group  Total 
  MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 
      

2018      
Trade and other payables  124,414,860 - - 124,414,860 
Deposits and balances from        

customers, by the bank subsidiary  
 

1,811,540,196 
 

- 
   

- 1,811,540,196 
Fund restricted for LIFT-AFP, 
   by the bank subsidiary  

 
- 

 
2,321,480 

 
- 2,321,480 

Borrowings  10,997,900 29,604,638 2,716,525 43,319,063 
  1,946,952,956 31,926,118 2,716,525 1,981,595,599 
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2017      
Trade and other payables  67,215,929 15,856 - 67,231,785 
Deposits and balances from      

customers, by the bank subsidiary  1,434,249,508 - - 1,434,249,508 
Fund restricted for LIFT-AFP,      
   by the bank subsidiary  - 4,623,640 - 4,623,640 

Borrowings  7,491,000 27,511,040 9,099,585 44,101,625 
  1,508,956,437 32,150,536 9,099,585 1,550,206,558 

 
(d) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities 

 
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other 
payables, approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial 
instruments. The fair values of other classes of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in the respective 
notes to financial statements. The management considers the carrying amount of financial assets and 
financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values, unless 
otherwise mentioned in the financial statements. 
 

 
(e)Operational risk 

 
  Operational risk is a risk that is inherent in all business activities. Financial losses and business instability can 

result from failures in operational processes, internal policies or support systems. The Group has established 
an appropriate operational risk management framework to address operational risks within the risk appetite 
mandated by management and align its risk management strategies to overall business objectives. The 
Group’s bank subsidiary risk policies and committees that are appropriate for a large financial institution. 

 
  The Group recognizes that every operational risk cannot be entirely eliminated, and strives to balance the 

cost of controls with the potential benefits of risk management. The Group will continue to invest in 
appropriate risk management and mitigation programs such as business continuity management and 
incident management. 

 
 

(f) Legal and compliance risk 
 

  Legal risk is the risk to the Group's business activities resulting from unintended or unexpected legal action. 
This risk could arise from insufficient authority of a counterparty, uncertainty about the validity or 
enforceability of a contract, civil claims against the Group's property or interpretation errors in taxation 
utilizes competent internal and external counsel when entering into agreements. 

 
  Compliance risk is the risk of material financial loss or loss of reputation resulting from the failure or inability 

of the Group to comply with relevant industry-specific laws, regulations or procedures. The Group actively 
identifies and manages compliance risk through effective use of its external and internal compliance 
advisers. Accordingly, the Group also   monitors its entities' compliance with relevant international regulatory 
requirements. 
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(c) Capital risk management policies and objectives 
 
 The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to 

maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximize shareholder value. In order to maintain or achieve an optimal 
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment, return capital to shareholders, issue new 
shares, obtain new borrowings or sell assets to reduce borrowings. 

 
 Management monitors the Group’s capital, excluding the bank entity, based on a gearing ratio. During the year ended 

March 31, 2018, the Group's strategies remain unchanged from 2017 with the gearing ratio maintained at not exceeding 
40% for the Group. 

 
 The gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as borrowings (excluding loans 

from non-controlling interests) plus trade and other payables less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as 
net assets attributable to equity holders of the Company (“total equity”) plus net debt. 

  
  Group  
   2018 2017 

   MMK’000 MMK’000 
    (Restated) 
     

Net debt   84,541,033 56,464,596 
     
Total equity   186,564,943 180,182,239 
     
Total capital   271,105,976 236,646,835 
     
Gearing ratio   31% 24% 

     
 

 The Group’s bank subsidiary is subject to the capital adequacy requirements set out by the Central Bank of Myanmar 
("CBM") and the minimum regulatory capital adequacy ratio set for the year is 8% (2017: 10%). During the year, the CBM 
issued an instruction on revised method of capital adequacy ratio calculation, which increased the composition of the 
risk weighted assets with majority of loans being subject to 100% risk weight. Total equity investment and related party 
lending are also no longer included in the capital calculation.  

 
 The bank's capital adequacy ratio as at March 31, 2018 stands at 6.15% and the bank had since then issued a capital 

improvement plan to the CBM, outlining its short-term and long term plans to further increase the Tier 1 capital to meet 
the minimum regulatory capital adequacy ratio of 8%. 
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33 RELATED COMPANY AND REALTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
 Related companies in these financial statements refer to members of the shareholder’s group of companies.  
 
 Some of the Group’s transactions are between members of the shareholders and the Group. The effect of these on the 

basis determined between the parties are reflected in these financial statements.  
  Group  
   2018 2017 
   MMK’000 MMK’000 

     
With associates:     
   Rental expenses   (67,521) (255,791) 
   Other expenses   (11,797) (62,679) 

With entities related by common controlling shareholders:   
   Rental (expense) income   (10,656) 138,584 
   Gain from sale of investment   1,881,204 - 
   Other expenses 1   (657,531) (879,023) 
 
1  Other expenses relate to net expenditures on inter- group operating activities. 
 
During the financial year, Directors' remuneration amounted to MMK 377,709,091 (2017 : MMK 243,652,796) which 
includes the Executive Chairman's remuneration as follows: 

  Group  
   2018 2017 
   MMK’000 MMK’000 

     
Other allowance   60,000 60,000 
Bonus   236,209 110,308 
 
 
 
 

  296,209 170,308 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    
 
34 SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
 Management determines operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the key management team that are 

used to make strategic decisions. The key management team comprises of the Executive Chairman, the Chief Executive 
Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the heads of each business who directly report to the Executive Chairman on their 
respective entity’s business. 

 
 The Group’s reportable segments under MFRS 8 are as follows: 
 

i) The real estate services segment is in the business of property development, sale of development properties, 
providing project management, design and estate management services as well as property leasing. 
 

ii) The financial services segment is in the business of carrying out banking business, including domestic 
remittance business and financial services.  

 
iii) The healthcare services segment is in the business of owning and operating hospitals, clinics and the provision 

of healthcare related services.  

 
iv) The investment holding segment is in the business of investing in associates and joint venture. 

 
 The Group’s reportable segments operate in Myanmar. 
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The segment information provided to the key management team for the reportable segments are as follows: 
 

 
Real estate 

services 
Financial 
services 

Healthcare 
services 

Investment 
holding Total 

 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 
March 31, 2018      
      
Revenue - 186,593,135 18,922,942 225,007 205,741,084 
      
Elimination of inter-segment    

revenue - - (121,158) - (121,158) 
 - 186,593,135 18,801,784 225,007 205,619,926 
      
Cost of sales - (122,013,078) (10,840,939) - (132,854,017) 
      
Gross profit - 64,580,057 7,960,845 225,007 72,765,909 
      
Administrative expenses - (52,594,140) (10,902,058) (2,923,455) (66,419,653) 
      
Finance expenses - - (687,812) (2,804,599) (3,492,411) 
      
Listing expenses - - - (36,951) (36,951) 
      
Other gains or losses - 6,809,797 (143,413) 6,673,813 13,340,197 
 - (45,784,343) (11,733,283) 908,808 (56,608,818) 
      
Share of profit of associates 8,308,848 - - 3,456,656 11,765,504 
      
Profit (Loss) before tax 8,308,848 18,795,714 (3,772,438) 4,590,471 27,922,595 
      
Income tax expense - (3,144,733) - (409) (3,145,142) 
      
Net profit (loss) 8,308,848 15,650,981 (3,772,438) 4,590,062 24,777,453 

     
 
 

Real estate 
services 

Financial 
services 

Healthcare 
services 

Investment 
holding Total 

 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 
March 31, 2018      
      
Segment assets - 2,004,708,112 45,973,966 242,132,156 2,292,814,234 
      
Segment assets include:      
Additions to:      
   Property, plant and 
      equipment - 6,770,554 6,737,310 20,896 13,528,760 
      
   Intangible assets - 1,509,477          - - 1,509,477 
      
Segment liabilities - 1,899,362,391 16,819,273 68,907,890 1,985,089,554 

The segment information provided to the key management team for the reportable segments are as follows: 
 

 
Real estate 

services 
Financial 
services 

Healthcare 
services 

Investment 
holding Total 

 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 
March 31, 2018      
      
Revenue - 186,593,135 18,922,942 225,007 205,741,084 
      
Elimination of inter-segment    

revenue - - (121,158) - (121,158) 
 - 186,593,135 18,801,784 225,007 205,619,926 
      
Cost of sales - (122,013,078) (10,840,939) - (132,854,017) 
      
Gross profit - 64,580,057 7,960,845 225,007 72,765,909 
      
Administrative expenses - (52,594,140) (10,902,058) (2,923,455) (66,419,653) 
      
Finance expenses - - (687,812) (2,804,599) (3,492,411) 
      
Listing expenses - - - (36,951) (36,951) 
      
Other gains or losses - 6,809,797 (143,413) 6,673,813 13,340,197 
 - (45,784,343) (11,733,283) 908,808 (56,608,818) 
      
Share of profit of associates 8,308,848 - - 3,456,656 11,765,504 
      
Profit (Loss) before tax 8,308,848 18,795,714 (3,772,438) 4,590,471 27,922,595 
      
Income tax expense - (3,144,733) - (409) (3,145,142) 
      
Net profit (loss) 8,308,848 15,650,981 (3,772,438) 4,590,062 24,777,453 

     
 
 

Real estate 
services 

Financial 
services 

Healthcare 
services 

Investment 
holding Total 

 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 
March 31, 2018      
      
Segment assets - 2,004,708,112 45,973,966 242,132,156 2,292,814,234 
      
Segment assets include:      
Additions to:      
   Property, plant and 
      equipment - 6,770,554 6,737,310 20,896 13,528,760 
      
   Intangible assets - 1,509,477          - - 1,509,477 
      
Segment liabilities - 1,899,362,391 16,819,273 68,907,890 1,985,089,554 

Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Real Estate 
services 

Financial 
services 

Healthcare 
services 

Investment 
holding Total 

 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 
March 31, 2017      
      
Revenue - 146,385,420 14,775,574 294,000 161,454,994 
Elimination of inter-segment    

revenue - - (105,115) - (105,115) 
 - 146,385,420 14,670,459 294,000 161,349,879 
      
Cost of sales - (100,264,871) (8,581,349) - (108,846,220) 
      
Gross profit - 46,120,549 6,089,110 294,000 52,503,659 
      
Administrative expenses - (34,268,709) (9,391,715) (1,842,784) (45,503,208) 
      
Finance expenses - - (41,633) (1,786,068) (1,827,701) 
      
Listing expenses - - - (449,756) (449,756) 
      
Other gains or losses 2,610,759 150,676 (845,391) 3,563,513 5,479,557 
 2,610,759 (34,118,033) (10,278,739) (515,095) (42,301,108) 

Share of profit of associates 7,608,241 - - 67,406 7,675,647 
      
Profit (Loss) before tax 10,219,000 12,002,516 (4,189,629) (153,689) 17,878,198 
      
Income tax expense - (2,977,672) - - (2,977,672) 
      
Net profit (loss) 10,219,000 9,024,844 (4,189,629) (153,689) 14,900,526 

      
March 31, 2017      
      
Segment assets - 1,580,158,482 32,357,591 224,462,798 1,836,978,871 
      
Segment assets include:      
Additions to:      
   Property, plant and 
      equipment - 6,660,201 9,952,527 1,603 16,614,331 
      
   Intangible assets - 1,421,053    - - 1,421,053 
      

Segment liabilities - 1,495,231,065 5,653,239 52,836,047 1,553,720,351 
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Real Estate 
services 

Financial 
services 

Healthcare 
services 

Investment 
holding Total 

 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 
March 31, 2017      
      
Revenue - 146,385,420 14,775,574 294,000 161,454,994 
Elimination of inter-segment    

revenue - - (105,115) - (105,115) 
 - 146,385,420 14,670,459 294,000 161,349,879 
      
Cost of sales - (100,264,871) (8,581,349) - (108,846,220) 
      
Gross profit - 46,120,549 6,089,110 294,000 52,503,659 
      
Administrative expenses - (34,268,709) (9,391,715) (1,842,784) (45,503,208) 
      
Finance expenses - - (41,633) (1,786,068) (1,827,701) 
      
Listing expenses - - - (449,756) (449,756) 
      
Other gains or losses 2,610,759 150,676 (845,391) 3,563,513 5,479,557 
 2,610,759 (34,118,033) (10,278,739) (515,095) (42,301,108) 

Share of profit of associates 7,608,241 - - 67,406 7,675,647 
      
Profit (Loss) before tax 10,219,000 12,002,516 (4,189,629) (153,689) 17,878,198 
      
Income tax expense - (2,977,672) - - (2,977,672) 
      
Net profit (loss) 10,219,000 9,024,844 (4,189,629) (153,689) 14,900,526 

      
March 31, 2017      
      
Segment assets - 1,580,158,482 32,357,591 224,462,798 1,836,978,871 
      
Segment assets include:      
Additions to:      
   Property, plant and 
      equipment - 6,660,201 9,952,527 1,603 16,614,331 
      
   Intangible assets - 1,421,053    - - 1,421,053 
      

Segment liabilities - 1,495,231,065 5,653,239 52,836,047 1,553,720,351 
      

 

Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018
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(a) Reconciliation 
 

(i) Segment profit before income tax 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 
  (Restated) 

   
Segment gross profit 72,765,909 52,503,659 
Administrative expenses (66,419,653) (45,503,208) 
Finance expenses (3,492,411) (1,827,701) 
Listing expenses (36,951) (449,756) 
Other gains or losses 13,340,197 5,479,557 
Share of profit of associates 11,765,504 7,675,647 
 27,922,595 17,878,198 
   

(ii) Segment assets 
 

The amounts provided to management with respect to total assets are measured in a manner 
consistent with that of the financial statements. 
 

 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 

   
Segment assets for reportable segments 2,050,682,078 1,612,516,073 
Investment holding segment assets 242,132,156 224,462,798 
 2,292,814,234 1,836,978,871 

 
 

(iii) Segment liabilities 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 

   
Segment liabilities for reportable segments 1,916,181,664 1,500,884,304 
Investment holding segment liabilities      68,907,890 52,836,047 
 1,985,089,554 1,553,720,351 

 
 

(b) Revenue from major products and services 
 Group 
 2018 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 

   
Financial services 186,593,135 146,385,420 
Healthcare services 18,801,784 14,670,459 
Investment holding 225,007 294,000 
 205,619,926 161,349,879 

 
 

Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018
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35 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY 
  
 FMI Industry Investment Company Ltd. 
 
 On March 1, 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the equity interest of FMI Industry Investment Company Ltd. This 

transaction has been accounted for by the purchase method of accounting. 
 
 The fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the cash flow effect on the acquisition are as 

follows: 
 Total 
 MMK’000 
  

Current assets  
Cash and cash equivalents - 
  
Current liability  
Trade and other payables 735 
  
Identifiable net liability assumed 735 
Goodwill arising on acquisition 735 
Cash consideration paid (1,470) 
Less: cash and cash equivalent in the subsidiary acquired - 
Net cash outflow on acquisition (735) 

  
The goodwill arising on the acquisition of MMK 735,000 is attributable to the anticipated profitability from the Group’s 
existing business and growth in new markets.  

 
 Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group 

 
Had the above business combination been effected on April 1, 2017, the revenue of the Group for the year ended March 
31, 2018 would not have any changes, and the loss for the year ended March 31, 2018 would have been MMK 20,990,003. 
The management of the Group considers these numbers to represent an approximate measure of the performance of 
the consolidated Group basis and to provide a reference point for comparison in future periods. 

 

Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018
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Notes to Financial Statements
For The Year Ended March 31, 2018

37        	 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
 
	 On June 27, 2018, the Group terminated the Conditional Purchase Agreement with respect to the acquisition of 

shares in Asia Golden Glory Development Company Limited (“Asia Golden Glory”) through the Company’s subsidiary, 
FMI Industrial Investment Co., Ltd.. Accordingly, the Group’s project in relation to the development of Yeni Industrial 
Town Project (the “Project”) will be terminated. As at March 31, 2018, the Group’s investment in the Project is MMK 
970 million.

36 RESTATEMENTS AND COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
 
 For the year ended March 31, 2017, certain restatements have been made to enhance comparability with the current 

year’s financial statements due to revaluations of other financial assets with the availability of reliable and active market 
price, reclassification from investment property to property, plant and equipment due to usage, reclassification of 
investment in associates to investment in joint venture due to the existence of a contractual arrangement and 
reclassification of capital gains tax from income tax expenses to other gains or losses. 

 
 As a result, respective line items for the comparative figures are amended in the statement of financial position, 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of changes in equity, as well as the relevant 
notes to the financial statements. Opening consolidated statement of financial position as at April 1, 2016 is not 
presented as the quoted available-for-sale investments were only purchased by the Group during the financial year 
March 31, 2017, and other reclassifications are between items within the balance sheet and profit or loss which has no 
overall impact to total assets and profit after tax as a whole. 

 
 The reclassification made to the prior year’s financials are as follows: 
 
  Group  

 
Before 

restatement 
After 

restatement 
 2017 2017 
 MMK’000 MMK’000 

Statement of financial position   
   Other current assets 39,076,696 23,158,379 
   Other non-current assets - 6,273,449 
   Investment properties 21,581,191 1,385,947 
   Property, plant and equipment 71,464,121 101,304,234 
   Investment in joint venture - 2,775,833 
   Investment in associates 64,738,314 61,962,481 
   Available-for-sale investments 19,098,995 21,228,137 
   Reserves 19,628,186 21,757,328 
   
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
   income   
   Other gains or losses 6,016,308 5,479,557 

   Income tax expense 3,514,423 2,977,672 
   Fair value adjustment on available-for-sale investments - 2,129,142 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0



Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

U Theim Wai
Executive Chairman

U Tun Tun
Executive Director & Chief Financial Officer

U Linn Myaing
Executive Director

U Myat Thin Aung 
Non-Executive Vice-Chairman

U Than Aung
Non-Executive Director

Professor Dr. Yi Yi Myint
Non-Executive Director

Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet
Non-Executive Director

U Kyi Aye
Non-Executive Director

U Nyunt Tin
Non-Executive Director

Professor Dr. Kyaw Yin Hlaing
Non-Executive Director

AUDIT COMMITTEE

U Kyi Aye (Chairman)

Professor Dr. Yi Yi Myint

U Nyunt Tin

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet (Chairman)

U Than Aung

Professor Dr. Kyaw Yin Hlaing

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

U Myat Thin Aung  (Chairman)

Professor Dr. Yi Yi Myint

U Kyi Aye

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER

No.159/92-93

REGISTERED OFFICE

The Campus
1 Office Park, Rain Tree Drive, Pun Hlaing Estate
Hlaing Thayar Township, Yangon 11401, Myanmar
Tel: +95-1-3687766 | Fax: +95-1-3687687
Email: info@fmi.com.mm | Web: www.fmi.com.mm

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Myanmar Vigour & Associates Limited
(Member of  Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited)
#411, Level 4, Strand Square, No 53, Strand Road
Pabedan Township, Yangon, Myanmar.

Partner in charge
Daw  Cho Cho Aung

FY2018



The Campus, 1 Office Park, Rain Tree Drive
Pun Hlaing Estate, Hlaing Thayar Township
Yangon 11401, Myanmar

Tel: +95-1-3687766
Fax: +95-1-3687687

Email: info@fmi.com.mm
Web: www.fmi.com.mm

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.


	Front
	FMI Annual Report 2017-2018 29 6 18
	Back

